JOINING AND AVOIDANCE BEHAVIOR IN NONSOCIAL INSECTS

Ronald J. Prokopy¹ and Bernard D. Roitberg²

¹Department of Entomology, University of Massachusetts, Amherst, Massachusett, 01003; e-mail: prokopy@ent.umass.edu ²Department of Biological Sciences, Simon Frasier University, Burnaby, British Columbia V5A1S6, Canada: e-mail: bernard_roitberg@sfu.ca

Key Words fitness, inhibition, facilitation, grouping, spacing

■ Abstract Groups of two or more consexual conspecific adults of many kinds of nonsocial insects have been observed to form at feeding, mating, ovipositional, or sheltering sites. Conversely, adults of these same insects have been observed to avoid joining consexual conspecifics (or their progeny) and to place themselves (or their progeny) at some distance that results in spacing. Examples from various taxa illustrate that mechanisms underlying joining or avoidance behavior differ among species, as do types of benefits and costs to individuals who decide to join or avoid others. Moreover, within a given species, the decision to join or avoid others can be affected markedly by the physiological and informational state of the individual and by contextual response thresholds to resource availability. Decisions that benefit the individual may or may not affect the group in terms of total reproductive output.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
FUNCTIONAL ANALYSES OF RESPONSE TO CONSPECIFICS
EXAMPLES FROM DIFFERENT ORDERS OF INSECTS
Dictyoptera
Orthoptera
Homoptera
Heteroptera
Coleoptera
Lepidoptera
Diptera
Hymenoptera
VARIATION AMONG STUDIES IN FINDINGS ON JOINING
AND AVOIDING
POPULATION PERSPECTIVE
Medical Entomology
The Allee Effect and Conservation Biology

Sterile-Male Technique	 	651
CONCLUSIONS	 	

INTRODUCTION

In many kinds of animals, individuals join others of their species (conspecifics), resulting in the formation of a group (38, 53, 78, 85, 88, 132, 214, 217, 223). For the purposes of this review, we define joining behavior as a positive response of individuals to stimuli culminating in an association between two or more conspecifics that endures for more than a fleeting moment. By joining conspecifics, an individual may gain a variety of benefits. If the number of conspecifics composing a group is too large, however, a joiner may suffer various costs that ultimately affect its fitness. To date, reviewers of conspecific interactions in insects have dealt largely or exclusively either with mechanisms leading to and benefits resulting from joining conspecifics (see e.g. 132, 214, 217) or with mechanisms associated with avoiding conspecifics (resulting in spacing) and costs of overcrowding (see e.g. 55, 95, 158, 173, 198).

Our intent is to present a unified treatment of joining and avoidance behaviors in nonsocial insects that embraces underlying mechanisms as well as associated benefits and costs. We begin with a functional analysis of the spectrum of individual responses to conspecifics. We proceed with a presentation of some relevant examples from different orders of insects, recognizing that limitations of space preclude an all-encompassing account. We then offer a more detailed treatment of how a range of variables can have a marked impact on the degree to which joining and avoidance behaviors are expressed. Finally, we deal with population consequences of the joining behavior of individuals. Throughout, we focus on responses of individuals to consexuals and do not explicitly address intersexual responses. Also, we place emphasis on joining behavior that is elicited primarily by a positive response to stimuli originating from conspecifics rather than behavior that represents a positive response to stimuli from the habitat per se or behavior that is a by-product of grouping of progeny within the same clutch, recognizing that conspecific and habitat stimuli may interact in shaping the course of joining or avoidance behavior.

FUNCTIONAL ANALYSES OF RESPONSE TO CONSPECIFICS

Insects utilize various resources throughout their lives. These include food, mates, oviposition sites, and shelters or resting sites (173). When an individual attempts to locate or exploit a resource item, it may encounter a conspecific also engaged in a resource search or exploitation. The focal individual must then make a simple decision: join the individual or individuals already engaged in resource-search or exploitation or remain independent. The latter decision could include emigration (194, 243), generally referred to as conspecific repulsion or deterrence

(22, 74, 104, 205, 233, 257, but see 115). Functional analyses of this decision consider the fitness implications of the join versus leave options (78, 129). Details regarding assessment and utilization will differ among species and their resources, but the following inequality holds as a general statement:

$$f(VR, c, n) > P_{\rm f} \sum_{i=1}^{T} \sum_{j=1}^{N} P_{VRi} f(VRi, c, n_j)$$
(1)

On the left-hand side of Equation 1, the focal individual that chooses to join will receive some payoff as a function of sharing (or usurping) the resource, VR, with local conspecifics, n, via some competition process, c. The right-hand side describes the payoff from a solitary mode that includes the average payoff from discovery of other items that are found at discrete sites. Here, the average expected payoff depends on the likelihood of locating a resource (P_1) or resourceholding sites that range in size from 1 to T, as well as the probable distribution of conspecifics across those resources (187). It should be noted that frequently conspecifics might respond to the arrival of "joiners" by changing to "solitaries" themselves, thus affecting payoff to the focal individual as in classical ideal freedistribution theory. Thus, our analysis of joining/avoiding is strategic, not tactical (i.e. it considers the behavior of others). This kind of analysis falls under the rubric of game theory (145), wherein one seeks the evolutionarily stable strategic response to conspecifics (78). The analysis is further complicated when inclusive fitness is the more appropriate measure and individuals within groups differ in their degree of relatedness to the focal individual [see (195) for an example of among-sib evolutionary games in caterpillars].

When individuals seek resources independently as well as exploit the resourcefinding abilities of others, the distribution of individuals within these two classes at any one time is solved as the evolutionarily stable strategic response. Giraldeau & Beauchamp (78) distinguish between two joining games: information sharing, in which these two behaviors can be performed simultaneously [e.g. olfactory search for food and visual search for conspecifics (see e.g. 19)], and producer-scrounger, in which the two types of searches are mutually exclusive. Almost all experimental work has been applied to group-foraging birds (e.g. pigeons), although it could be applied equally well to some insects.

A subset of our model concerns the actions of individuals upon joining a group. For example, given the higher depletion rate of resources at sites foraged by groups, should the focal individual increase its search or handling speed or decrease its level of discrimination? There is some evidence for lower thresholds of acceptance in group settings in parasitoids (242), blackflies (147), and tephritid flies (170, 174, 188). Such a shift in threshold is often referred to as social facilitation (38, 85). Furthermore, although this review focuses on behavioral responses to conspecifics, individuals sometimes accelerate or modify ontogenic processes when grouped with conspecifics (11, 159). For example, Holbrook & Schal (103) showed that male cockroach nymphs developed significantly faster when paired with conspecific consexuals than when alone. Similar effects have been demonstrated in a range of orders, including Orthoptera (13), Homoptera (235), Lepidoptera (80), and Diptera (204), although in some cases it is difficult to separate physical effects of grouping (e.g. increased temperature) from a strict response. In addition, morphological and physiological changes may be caused by direct density-dependent factors in locusts (190). The inequality model that we introduced here could easily be applied to physiological or developmental processes. However, as noted, when the fitness from accelerated development depends on the developmental rate of conspecifics, game theory is needed to evaluate fitness payoffs (see e.g. 24, 68).

In addition to join/avoid decisions, we also consider situations in which an individual finds itself at a resource site that is best exploited by several individuals [e.g. *Ephestia kuehniella* larvae (166)]. There may also be costs associated with sharing resources. Thus, the decision now becomes whether to invite others or go it alone. In the examples section, we provide cases of invitation effects across several orders. According to our functional theory, invitations should be extended only when the sender benefits (3). Some cases that support this prediction [e.g. bark beetles (127)] are illustrated.

We expect that payoffs from decisions will be contextual in nature (188) and that the behavior(s) we observe has been molded by natural selection under a suite of ecological conditions (129). For example, the cost of not joining a conspecific at a resource site is probably much higher for insects that forage for ephemeral resources [e.g. some burying beetles (187)] than for species that forage for more readily available items [e.g. many tephritid flies (196)]. Of course, resource availability can be situation dependent [e.g. seasonal effects (197)]. Moreover, the optimal decision could be reversed within the same system. Individuals might be attracted to conspecifics under some conditions but repelled by them under other conditions or at least show an altered magnitude of response (see examples section). In fact, different responses to conspecifics in different contexts would provide the strongest support for the functional concepts described above (see e.g. 89, 162). Unfortunately, few researchers have conducted controlled experiments on such responses.

Thus far, we have described the focal individual as a static entity; in other words, we have ignored such variables as condition, age, and maturity. In reality, the payoff for choosing to join, ignore, or move away from conspecifics is often state dependent (143). Imagine a small predatory insect with high energy reserves (i.e. in good condition). Further, suppose that this insect encounters a large conspecific that has just captured some prey. Should the focal individual choose to join the other, a fight will ensue, and the former is likely to be driven away. A decision to seek other prey will likely provide a higher payoff than would joining, given the likely asymmetry in fighting prowess. By contrast, imagine the small individual as having low energy reserves (i.e. in poor condition). A decision to seek other prey could result in starvation unless alternate prey is located soon. Thus, it may pay the focal individual to attempt to join (usurp resources from) conspecifics even if the chance of success is low. Problems of this sort are best dealt with via dynamic game theory, in which both state dependence and frequency dependence

are considered (101). It is important to realize that different state-dependent effects are commonplace (20, 116, 144).

Beyond physiological state, there is the notion of informational state (144). As pointed out by Robertson et al (188), Stamps (222), and others, encountering a conspecific at a resource site provides information on the state of the environment—for example, the ratio of foragers to resource items or the stability of the habitat (65). Our functional perspective sees insects as nonomniscient Bayesian foragers (see e.g. 94) that update their informational state with each encounter with conspecifics. From this perspective it is very easy to understand why a response to food or other resource items might change after an encounter with conspecifics (see section on variation among studies).

The simple model described here points to the importance of correctly characterizing competition [see (112)]. When an individual attempts to use a resource item that is already being sought or used by a conspecific, its return may be enhanced or reduced, or it may not differ from what it would accrue if it remained solitary. This view of multiple effects of resource competition is at odds with the most commonly held view that increased density has fitness costs (55; but see 113), although the latter is an extension of population dynamics theory at the species level. Furthermore, there are often asymmetries in resource accrual at co-utilized sites. Resource-sharing asymmetries have received considerable attention of late from studies of reproductive skew theory, although most of this work has focused on social insects (40; but see 86, 187). Finally, although we have concentrated on the resource-accrual portion of the fitness payoff, it is also true that the extent of mortality suffered by individuals when solitary may differ from that endured when grouped with conspecifics, as expressed (when grouped) via decreased susceptibility to dehydration (52), increased vigilance (167, 246), a dilution effect (34, 87, 125, 146), increased strength of warning signal in aposematic insects (see e.g. 77), or increased numbers of encounters with parasites or disease agents (see e.g. 29, 91, 97, 181). Increased mortality associated with grouping may include density-dependent responses by plants to herbivores (see e.g. 256).

Several general scenarios can be postulated that describe the range of effects of conspecifics on per capita resource acquisition and/or utilization. In the first, enhancement, the presence of conspecifics actually increases the likelihood that an individual will either locate or exploit resources. In the second, resource location or exploitation is independent of conspecific presence. In the third scenario, individuals perform less well in the presence than in the absence of conspecifics. The exact mechanisms underlying these effects likely differ across species, resources, and contexts. For example, in stink bugs, positive density-enhancement of feeding (39) is due primarily to the increased range of prey sizes that young instars can exploit when they join older instars that have subdued what to the former would normally be inaccessible prey. Alternatively, male grasshoppers that join conspecifics may increase their chances of attracting females because the conspecific males have stationed themselves at high-quality sites (155). At present, there are more demonstrations of negative than positive density-dependent effects on

resource accrual, perhaps because of the aforementioned conceptual bias that has led to more interest in the former than the latter.

Finally, before we delve into specific examples, it is important that we distinguish between levels of organization. Throughout the examples that we discuss, we take the perspective of the individual and the possible adaptive nature of response to conspecifics even though effects of such response can be manifested at higher levels of organization. For a simple example, suppose a cockroach experiences pure scramble competition while foraging in a group. Each time another individual joins that group, the focal individual will suffer a concomitant reduction in fitness indexed by reproductive rate, r (this is the classic logistic model):

$$dN/Ndt = r(1 - N/K),$$
(2)

where *r* is the intrinsic rate of increase, *N* is the number of individuals in the group, and *K* is the carrying capacity of the resource.

If one were to plot per capita fitness against N, the result would be a linear decrease in r with group size at the resource site. In other words, the focal individual would perform best when alone at the site. An alternate and very commonly applied approach is to plot reproductive performance of the group against group size. In our specific example, this would yield a parabola, not a linear decline. The key point here is that the density of individuals that maximizes individual performance. Because our interest is in the adaptive nature of response and because natural selection is a much stronger force at the individual level (252), our focus is on effects of joining/avoidance on individual performance.

Why should an individual ever join a group? As mentioned, as long as the gain from joining a group is greater than that from being solitary—for example, when solitary sites are hard to find—the optimal behavior is to join the group. Recalling that conspecifics might also respond to the focal individual should it attempt to join, we can, in theory, deduce an optimal threshold(s) for an individual to join a group. By contrast, at the group level, there is an optimal group size that maximizes group productivity; the former and latter will rarely match. Pulliam & Caraco (177) reached similar conclusions for a wide taxonomic range of organisms that regularly associate in groups (e.g. lions, juncos, etc).

EXAMPLES FROM DIFFERENT ORDERS OF INSECTS

Dictyoptera

Numerous species of cockroaches exhibit aggregative behavior as nymphs or adults, particularly when resting (200). Various stimuli are known to elicit joining and/or maintain grouping, including microclimatic factors such as relative humidity, temperature, and light, which may channel individuals toward particular locales; physical stimuli originating from substrate texture or architecture of selected location; pheromonal stimuli originating from roaches themselves, from feces of conspecifics, or from surfaces impregnated with such feces; and antennal contact with conspecifics, providing tactile and chemical stimulation (52). Several adaptive values have been postulated for individuals in aggregations of cockroaches (224, 254), one of which has substantial experimental support. It involves a greater ability to reduce water loss and survive hostile dry conditions when individuals are in groups than when isolated, as occurs in nymphs of *Blattella germanica* (52) and adults of Gromphadorhina portentosa (258). This advantage results from overlap in diffusion fields of water vapor in grouped individuals giving rise to reduced steepness of the water vapor gradient between the body and the surrounding atmosphere (52). Some cockroaches exhibit an enhanced rate of development and/or a greater weight gain when in groups than when isolated, as occurs in nymphs of Periplaneta americana (249) and Diploptera punctata (103) and in adults of B. germanica (102). The inclusion of an individual insect in a group is thought to result in diminished brain inhibition of juvenile hormone production, leading to more rapid growth or sexual maturation (76, 102). Rather than being a benefit to individuals attributable to selection operating on joining behavior, these physiological changes may be simply a response to aggregation per se.

Can joining conspecifics be of adaptive value to individual cockroaches regardless of the size of group? Evidence from at least one study, on *P. americana*, suggests that beneficial effects for individuals decline when groups are too large, possibly because of increased cannibalism among early-instar nymphs (249). Mechanisms contributing to avoidance have been studied in *B. germanica*; crowded adults release a pheromone, eliciting dispersal by conspecifics (199). A fuller appreciation of factors constraining large group size in cockroaches and circumstances associated with benefits versus costs to individuals of joining groups of various sizes awaits detailed investigation.

Orthoptera

Crickets In part, male crickets "sing" to attract females as potential mates. In several species, such acoustical-calling behavior also stimulates distant males to join callers, thereby resulting in grouping of males within a locale (266). Grouped males have a higher probability of encountering females than do comparatively isolated males, especially when the overall population density is low (28, 96). There are limits, however, to the density of individuals in a group. Indeed, spaced-out gregariousness, a condition in which a male does not tolerate close proximity of another male, is commonplace in crickets (31, 266). Detection of proximate males, and ensuing initiation of agonistic behavior leading to local avoidance and spacing, likely involves responses to a combination of visual, olfactory, auditory, and tactile cues from nearby or encountered males (2, 31). Males are much more prone when at high densities than at low densities to engage in singing as a consequence of encounters with other males. The more a cricket sings, the greater its chance of being discovered by acoustically orienting parasitic flies and predators

(29, 202, 265). The extent of grouping conducive to maximum fitness of individual males may differ according to habitat and resource structure (75) and prior experience of individuals (2).

Grasshoppers Mating in most species of grasshoppers involves scramble competition among males for females (81). In the genus *Ligurotettix*, however, males respond positively to acoustical calls made by conspecific males and move preferentially to bushes occupied by such males (155). Bushes with several males attract (through sound) and accumulate more females per capita than bushes with only a single male (211). Grouped males usually average more matings per capita than males that are sole occupants of bushes (82). The most highly prized bushes apparently are those that males assess as being of greatest food value to themselves, with females (which emerge after males) apparently using the presence of males as a partial sign of a quality host (81). Factors limiting densities of *Ligurotettix* adults on single bushes have not been well studied but presumably involve energetic costs resulting from excessive agonistic encounters among males and potential negative consequences of high apparency to natural enemies.

Among various species of grasshoppers in which individual females are known to join groups of conspecific females (106), one of the most fascinating is Zonocerus variegatus. As reviewed by Chapman et al (34), a single shrub may contain hundreds of mature females and males and hundreds to thousands of egg pods laid by grouped females. Observations suggest that joining originates in a manner similar to that described for Ligurotettix grasshoppers, although male odor, rather than male sound, may be the most important stimulus attracting females. There appear to be two principal advantages to individuals grouping as adults: enhanced defense against predation as a consequence of being distasteful and having aposematic coloration, and enhanced developmental rate and size of nymphal progeny compared with individuals feeding in isolation. Although adults, eggs, and young nymphs can reach rather astonishing densities in a shrub, middle-aged and older nymphs do disperse in response to as-vet-undetermined stimuli. Should their density remain high, they could be highly susceptible to food shortage and epidemics of disease, which are less likely to occur during drier times when adults and young nymphs are active. High levels of parasitism of grouped adults have been observed, but apparently parasitism is not an important selective constraint on group size owing to its initiation after most females have already laid their eggs.

Locusts Perhaps the most extensively studied single species among all insects that form large groups is the desert locust, *Schistocerca gregaria*. In the field, females have been observed to deposit egg pods at densities approaching 1000/m² (192, 238). Stimuli from certain plants attract gravid solitary-phase females (18a), whereas pheromones emitted from froth encasing egg pods deposited in sand by conspecifics attract both solitary- and gregarious-phase females (18a, 203). These stimuli, along with more local tactile stimuli (232), elicit oviposition in the immediate vicinity. Grouped egg laying ensures that hatching nymphs are in close

proximity to one another. Whereas solitary-phase nymphs emerging from widely spaced egg pods deposited by solitary-phase adults tend to avoid one another, gregarious-phase nymphs emerging from clumped egg pods laid by gregarious-phase adults are attracted to one another (122, 191), promoting enhanced "gre-garization" as a consequence of effects of combined tactile, visual, and pheromonal stimuli received from nearby nymphs (67, 190). In addition to olfactory stimuli from eggs and nymphs, pheromones emitted by gregarious-phase males (but not solitary-phase males) may also play a role in drawing solitary and gregarious adults of each sex to "gregarizing" groups during early stages of group formation (156).

Benefits to individual desert locusts that join large groups or swarms are not well understood but, in at least some circumstances, apparently include a reduced risk of predation. Solitary-phase juveniles are typically green, whereas gregarious-phase juveniles are black with contrasting yellow or orange body parts. When gregariousphase juveniles consume plants that are toxic to vertebrates, predators such as lizards learn quickly to avoid aposematically colored gregarious-phase juveniles but do not avoid solitary-phase juveniles (229). Costs to individuals associated with joining a swarm must involve at least some risk of not obtaining enough food to support optimal development when the food supply is limited. Computer simulation models rooted in and verified by field observations and experiments strongly suggest that the structure of the resource habitat (particularly the degree to which plants as food resources are clumped) has a major influence on the degrees to which solitary-phase individuals avoid each other and gregarious-phase individuals react positively to each other (42, 216). The more concentrated the resource, the greater the probability of grouping and eventually swarming.

Homoptera

Aphids feed on phloem fluid of plants and are known to aggregate in tight Aphids or loose groups that sometimes comprise tens of thousands of individuals (227). Three tendencies can lead to aphid aggregations: a tendency of aphids to select only certain parts of a plant for feeding (density-neutral), a tendency of young nymphs (wingless) to remain close to their parent (density-neutral), or a propensity of aphids to join or interact positively with conspecifics (density-positive) (109, 124, 150, 152, 250). Several kinds of stimuli lead to grouping in aphids, including physical or chemical properties of particular plants or sites within plants favorable for aphid feeding (150, 167, 250), an attractive or arresting odor emitted from feeding aphids themselves or plant tissue undergoing feeding by aphids (30, 120, 150, 165), visually attractive characters of conspecifics (108, 120, 124), and tactile stimuli in the form of antennal contact with conspecifics (123). Advantages to individual aphids of joining a group may include gaining greater access to plant nutrients as a result of redirection of nutrient flow toward sites occupied by grouped individuals (247), a potential for becoming larger and hence realizing a greater fecundity (247), and an enhanced probability of escaping predation (32, 123, 125, 236) mediated by response to alarm pheromone emitted by nearby aphids (167) or bodily contact with threatened aphids (125).

Despite the strong tendency toward intraspecific grouping seen in many aphid species, spacing of individuals within a group (spaced-out gregariousness) also occurs (123). If individuals within a group become too dense, the consequence may be reduced growth and developmental rates or even death (33, 56, 152, 250) as well as an enhanced probability of becoming infected by fungal pathogens (32). Stimuli triggering dispersal of individuals from groups at densities perceived as being excessive include slowed nutrient flow to feeding sites or changes in food quality (33, 56, 99), odor (but not alarm pheromone) emitted from nearby conspecifics (30, 165) or from plants attacked by high-density aphids (179), and frequent tactile encounters with conspecifics (124).

In at least one aphid species, *Phorodon humuli*, properties of compounds making up the blend of semiochemicals released by alates feeding on host leaves change according to aphid density, and this change is accompanied by a corresponding shift from attractiveness to repellency of the blend to other alates as colonizing aphids build from low to high density (30). Density-dependent variation from attraction to repulsion of individuals responding to aphid-associated stimuli has also been observed in other aphid species, with variables such as stage of development (nymphs versus adults), age of adults, and morphology of individuals (alates versus apterae) playing a decisive role in the nature of the response (56, 108, 150, 165).

Adult periodical cicadas often reach densities of several hundred per Cicadas tree or bush (62, 253), resulting primarily from attraction of males and females to sounds produced by initial males (61). Mating occurs in leks, after which females leave and oviposit elsewhere (139). Advantages to individual males of being in a group of conspecifics during courtship and mating may include reduced interference from nearby males of related species (61, 138), a greater probability of encountering a female in general and especially one whose receptiveness to mating has been enhanced by repeated auditory and visual stimulation from other males (138), and a greater probability of escaping predation by birds (this is true also for females grouping at oviposition sites) (118). The principal cost of joining a group to individuals of either sex may be an increased probability of being infected by fungal pathogens and thereby losing reproductive capability (253). In the bladder cicada, Cystosoma saundersii, again both sexes are attracted to the sound of calling males; but at close range (<0.5 m) an individual male no longer moves toward calling conspecifics but rather travels away from them, thereby reducing acoustic interference arising from nearby callers and allowing females to discriminate better between the individual male and its neighbors (57). Males grouped in this fashion achieve more matings per capita than isolated males (58).

Heteroptera

Grouping of eggs, nymphs, or adults is common in many subsocial species of Heteroptera (71, 153, 230). We draw attention here to the asocial species *Perillus*

bioculatus, a stinkbug that often feeds in groups on leaf beetle eggs and larvae. Older but not younger nymphs succeed in overcoming defensive reactions of large prey, with young nymphs frequently observed to join one or more older nymphs at large prey (39), apparently in response to a pheromone released by older nymphs (4). Benefits to younger nymphs include access to otherwise unobtainable prey, while older nymphs may benefit from the aid of younger nymphs in subduing large prey (39). Presumably, there is an upper limit to the number of nymphs aggregating on a single prey beyond which benefits to individuals of grouping level off or decrease, but this has yet to be examined for *P. bioculatus*.

Coleoptera

Bark Beetles The most thoroughly studied insects with respect to characterization of ranges of group size conducive to high-level fitness of individuals are bark beetles. Bark beetles feed directly on subcortical (xylem and phloem) tissues of woody plants and span a variety of host use patterns, ranging from saprophytic (with feeding being confined to dead trees) to facultatively parasitic (normally saprophytic but capable of parasitizing stressed live trees) to obligately parasitic (colonizing only living trees) (182). The type of host use pattern has a marked impact on performance of individuals across a range of group sizes.

In at least one species of bark beetle, *Dendroctonus micans*, which feeds almost exclusively on living trees, the ultimate infestation of a host may involve arrival of just a single female, which lays a large clutch of eggs in a single cavity (228). Hatching larvae emit a pheromone that elicits joining and results in larval grouping (83). Individual larvae associated with groups grow faster and larger than solitary larvae, with individuals in larger groups having an advantage over individuals in smaller groups in overcoming host secretion of toxic resin and plant secondary chemicals as defenses against larval feeding (228). Individuals in very large groups of larvae, however, may experience slower growth (228), probably owing to effects of competition for food or space (201).

In most species of bark beetles, infestation involves colonization of single trees by hundreds or thousands of adults, which feed, mate, and oviposit after arrival (127, 182). For some species (e.g. *Tomicus piniperda*), volatile attractants from host trees alone are sufficient to elicit arrival of adults (27). But in most species in the genera *Dendroctonus* and *Ips*, group colonization arises from the release by pioneer beetles of attractive pheromone that, by itself or in conjunction with host or microbial volatiles and tree visual stimuli, elicits joining (127, 182). A pioneer beetle presumably benefits from release of pheromone by attracting potential mates, but an equally important benefit involves overcoming host defenses. Thus, both sexes may respond positively to pheromone released by either sex of pioneer adult, with increasing numbers of adults being increasingly capable (either by themselves or aided by phytopathogenic fungi which they inoculate) of outpacing defense responses of host trees (127, 157, 182). Failure of bark beetles that infest living trees to overcome tree defenses by group attack is likely to result in the death of most or all individuals. Even so, it is not appropriate to invoke group selection as operative in bark beetles because the initial response of an adult to pheromone emitted by a pioneer beetle is presumed to be a reaction to the pioneer as a potential mate or, in the case of a consexual response, to information indicative of a potentially suitable host tree.

Despite a large fitness advantage to individuals associated with group colonization of host trees in many bark beetles, there are costs to individual fitness when groups become excessively large. Among adults, intraspecific competition during gallery construction can reduce gallery length and numbers of eggs per gallery in Dendroctonus and Ips species (184, 189, 264). Perhaps the most significant negative consequences of competition are to larvae, which, unlike adults, are constrained to remain within established galleries and may suffer reduced size and high mortality when overcrowded (6, 127, 201). In addition to the direct negative effects of excessive population density, indirect negative effects may occur as a consequence of the increased ability of predators and parasitoids to detect bark beetles as prey when the latter are at a high density (181). Individuals at densities approaching the upper limit of population productivity may produce an array of stimuli (especially acoustical and chemical) that generate negative responses in would-be colonizing conspecifics, leading to termination of aggregation and to avoidance (27, 127, 182). Involvement of chemical stimuli ranges from production and release of specific inhibitory compounds (e.g. brevicomin, frontalin, and verbenone) in *Dendroctonus* to release of a pheromonal component that is attractive at low doses but repellent at high doses in Pityogenes (205) to reduction or cessation of production of certain components of an attractive pheromone in Scolytus and Ips (27, 127).

Density ranges conducive to maximum population productivity have been characterized for several bark beetles, including *D. ponderosae* (180) and *Ips cembrae* (264), which infest living trees. Especially interesting are species such as *Ips pini* that infest primarily dead and defenseless trees and that aggregate on such trees despite suffering high individual costs of competition even when at very low densities (189). Could aggregation in such species be a remnant behavior from species that colonize living trees (189)? Group sizes favoring maximization of population productivity in bark beetles may differ substantially depending on the structure of the resource habitat (nearness of neighboring hosts), the physiological state of potential hosts, and the physiological and informational states of bark beetle adults (157, 182).

Burying Beetles Adult silphid beetles in the genus *Nicrophorus* bury small vertebrate corpses in soil as food for their offspring (66). Although in some cases all females involved in burying a corpse are closely related, in other cases they are unrelated (234). There may be two to several females as well as several males initiating burial, depending on the size of the corpse (208). The odor of a decaying carcass, alone or in conjunction with a pheromone released by males, attracts females (66). On a small corpse, benefits from grouping (if any) may accrue only for a single dominant female, whereas on a large corpse, benefits accrue for every female (187). Such benefits may include an enhanced ability to bury a large carcass more quickly and thereby reduce its apparentness to interspecific competitors (66), defend progeny against predators and congeneric intruders (207), or maintain a carcass in a state suitable for larval development (234).

No matter how large it is, a carcass is still a limited resource. If overcrowded, larvae could suffer severely from intraspecific competition were it not for infanticide carried out by parents and conspecific adults in the form of killing and eating eggs and young larvae in advance of competition (17, 66). There appear to be no cues by which a parent can distinguish its progeny from unrelated progeny; larvae appearing on a carcass outside a certain time window are consumed by adults (66). Burying beetles represent an intriguing example of an environmental variable (size of carcass as a larval resource) playing a key role in a delicate balance between benefits and costs to individuals of grouping (187, 208).

Tenebrionid Beetles Both sexes of adults in several different genera of tenebrionid beetles (e.g. Orzaephilus, Prostephanus, and Tribolium) aggregate at food and oviposition site resources in response to pheromones released by pioneer males (69, 168, 245). When resources become crowded, thereby increasing the risk to progeny, adults or larvae release other pheromones that repel would-be colonizers (69, 168, 245). Although fitness costs associated with larval crowding in these genera have been well studied, benefits from grouping, other than enhancement of the probability of frequent copulation and resultant higher fecundity (see e.g. 164), have not. Tenebrio molitor larvae respond positively to volatile components of frass released by conspecific larvae at sites providing food or safe refugia, resulting in larval grouping; when such sites become crowded, (a situation accompanied by increased amounts of volatile fatty acids released by feeding larvae), dispersal of larvae to alternative sites commences (248). Parastizopus armatriceps adults dig burrows into desert sand beneath host plants. Under moist conditions, it is common for a burrow to have one or two adults, but during dry conditions, adults congregate in groups and thereby reduce body water loss (183). Apparently, grouping in this species is a dynamic phenomenon whose occurrence fluctuates rapidly depending on the availability of food and water (183).

Other Beetles Several other kinds of beetles have been observed in aggregations of hundreds or thousands of individuals. Notable are large aggregations of light-flashing lampyrid males (especially Asian species) in trees (26), coccinellid beetles at overwintering sites (44, 141), gyrinid beetles in ponds (246), and scarabaeid beetles on plants (134). Although stimuli eliciting aggregation and benefits to individuals of clustering have been studied or theorized for each of these groups, costs to individuals associated with differing levels of aggregation have not been examined in detail.

Lepidoptera

For many butterflies (214, 215, 219) and some moths (237, 255), males aggregate in groups of from 2 to \sim 20 individuals. Grouping (lekking) of males may originate via attraction of males to physical or chemical cues of host plants of females, maleemitted pheromone, or a variety of non-resource-based landmark stimuli, such as hilltops or patches of sunlit earth in otherwise shady areas (132, 135, 214, 215). In concept, male grouping offers several potential selective advantages to individual members, including enhancement of signal apparency to females, reduction of the probability of predation, and establishment of proximity to particular "hot shot" males that may increase mating opportunities (214). For the butterfly *Melitaea cinxia* there is good evidence that an increase in male density from very low to low or moderate results in a greater proportion of females being mated and a reduced risk of population extinction (130). Why groupings of lepidopteran males infrequently exceed ~20 individuals (214) is uncertain but may be related to a decrease in the probability of obtaining a mate coupled with an increase in energy expended in defense against additional intruding males (49, 135, 251).

Although a majority of lepidopterans deposit eggs singly, there are some species whose females deposit clusters containing hundreds of eggs (37, 93, 220), resulting in aggregation of early-instar larvae. Clustering of eggs may arise also from a positive response of one female to another, resulting in deposition of adjacent egg masses (1, 142). Advantages to individual eggs of being in clusters (and hence to fitness of females that laid them) include a reduced overall probability of mortality from desiccation and parasitoid attack (because most eggs are hidden beneath exposed surface eggs) and enhanced protection against predators (especially in species whose eggs are toxic and aposematically colored) (37, 220). The main cost to individual eggs of being in a cluster may be greater detectability by parasitoids (221). Regardless of the benefits or costs to individual eggs of being aggregated, it is important to recognize that the female parent determines egg placement and may or may not realize the benefits or costs corresponding to those of its egg progeny.

Lepidopteran larvae hatching from clustered eggs are aggregated initially and may remain so through early and possibly later instars. In most cases, the dominant stimulus facilitating larval aggregation is pheromonal, but in some species, visual and substrate-transmitted vibrational stimuli may play a role (47). Numerous studies have revealed multiple advantages to individual lepidopteran larvae of joining conspecific larvae to form groups (36, 47, 54, 73, 133, 220, 259). Among these are an enhanced probability of finding suitable food, an increased ability to overcome host plant physical or chemical defenses, induction of a nutrient sink, an enhanced frequency of feeding, increased thermoregulatory ability leading to a faster growth rate, and a decreased probability of predation (either through aposematism, dilution, or group creation of shelters such as silken webs). As larvae become larger, they may reach a size at which the benefits of grouping during early instar stages are offset by the costs of intraspecific competition and food depletion, necessitating movement to new hosts (36). Also, pathogens spread faster among densely grouped larvae than among moderately grouped or solitary larvae, placing a further constraint on group size (97, 186).

Two intriguing cases of grouping involve the moths *Ephestia kuehniella* and *Plodia interpunctella*, whose larvae infest stored products. Females of both species are attracted to and oviposit preferentially in food infested by conspecific larvae via responses to pheromones emitted by larvae during larval encounters (7, 46, 166). Benefits to individual larvae of group feeding may include increased release of nutrients from food, a better ability to regulate microbial growth on food, and better protection from predators through larger mattings of silk (166). However, high larval density can lead to a shortage of food, reduced larval weight, increased cannibalism, and an increased risk of parasitism and death (45, 169). At high larval densities, the amount of larval pheromone emitted is sufficiently large to stimulate larval dispersal and cause adults to seek alternative egg-laying sites (46, 166). As suggested in our functional analyses, the availability of alternative sites affects threshold levels at which adults respond negatively to larval pheromones (166).

Like coccinellid beetles, some butterflies aggregate as adults when seeking shelter. Perhaps the most spectacular example is the monarch butterfly, *Danaus plexippus*; millions of adult monarchs form dense clusters on trees in central Mexico during winter (25). Benefits to individual monarch butterflies of being in very large groups include a reduced probability of predation and an increased probability of staying dry (and hence withstanding lower temperatures) during winter storms (8, 72). Costs include an increased probability of being infected by protozoan parasites (240).

Diptera

Drosophila Groups of a dozen or more conspecific *Drosophila* males are commonly observed, often occurring near discrete and patchily distributed larval food resources such as tree exudates and decaying fruits or mushrooms (100, 214). Groups are formed principally through responses of individual males to a combination of an attractive pheromone emitted by other males and the attractive odor of the resource itself (15, 90, 132). *Drosophila mycetophaga* males in groups have a greater per capita probability of encountering receptive females than do isolated males, but this probability levels off when group size reaches ~20 males (12). The larger the size of the group, the more frequently individual males of *D. mycetophaga* engage in aggressive encounters with other males, although actual costs to individuals of such aggression have not been examined critically (12). *Drosophila grimshawi* females are more likely to visit and mate within leks of moderate size (4–8 males) than in those of larger size (12 males) (60).

Pheromone of male *Drosophila* attracts females, which (for some species) transfer the pheromone to oviposition sites (14), thereby enhancing the attractiveness of such sites and leading to grouping of eggs deposited by different females (35). Grouped larvae are better able than isolated larvae to reduce levels of harmful mold on surfaces of larval food (98). When overcrowded, however, *Drosophila* larvae not only may exhibit reduced size and higher mortality but also may give rise to smaller adults having lower fecundity (84). Also, the more females ovipositing at the same site and the greater the amount of pheromone deposited, the larger the number of larval parasitoids that may be attracted to the site (91), an additional cost of crowding. Marking pheromones eliciting dispersal of ovipositing females from potentially crowded resources are unknown in *Drosophila*, but in concept, females may reject unacceptable occupied sites by sensing the presence of larvae or the declining condition of a resource (this remains to be studied carefully). The distribution of resources within a habitat strongly affects the degree of *Drosophila* aggregation at individual sites (114).

Mosquitoes Although males of many species of mosquitoes gather in swarms for mating (217), our focus here is on the oviposition behavior of females. Among different species of mosquitoes there is a wide range of densities of conspecific eggs or larvae observed in aquatic habitats and major differences in the manner in which ovipositing adults respond to the presence of conspecifics. For example, gravid females of several *Culex* species are attracted to pheromone emitted by conspecific eggs, resulting in grouping of eggs [reviewed by Bentley & Day (20), Jones (116), and McCall & Cameron (146)]. Conversely, gravid females of several *Aedes* species respond either neutrally or negatively to the presence of conspecific larvae [reviewed by Bentley & Day (20) and Jones (116)]. Benefits to individual larvae of inclusion in a group include an increased ability to keep water surfaces free of scum [which reduces oxygen availability (65)] and possibly also reduced predation through dilution (146), although the latter has not been well studied.

There is evidence suggesting that, for the pitcher plant mosquito *Wyeomyia smithii*, maximal oviposition occurs in pitchers containing an intermediate density of larvae and less oviposition occurs at lower and higher larval densities (89). Similarly, in the treehole mosquito *Aedes triseriatus*, larval survival under some habitat conditions is greater at intermediate than at lower or higher densities (136). High larval density can result in reduced growth and survival of individuals, sometimes involving cannibalism (110, 136, 185). Females of several species refrain from ovipositing at sites containing high densities of eggs or larvae through responding negatively to substances emitted by conspecifics and possibly also by microorganisms that reproduce to a high density in association with a high larval density (20, 116). At high densities, *A. triseriatus* larvae release a substance that inhibits hatching of recently laid eggs (137). The physiological state of female mosquitoes (20, 116), the presence of natural enemies (263), and the structure of the resource habitat in space and time (65, 136, 262) can profoundly affect the degree to which females respond to the presence of conspecifics.

Other Diptera Positive responses of individual males to visual, pheromonal, or acoustical stimuli associated with the presence of other males, culminating in

the formation of groups of conspecific males, are known to occur in a variety of other dipterans [reviewed by Landolt (132), Shelly & Whittier (214), and Sivinski & Petersson (217)]. Similarly, other individual female dipterans are attracted visually to the presence of conspecifics at feeding sites (e.g. muscid, calliphorid, and scarcophagid flies) (43, 218) or by pheromonal or microbial odor stimuli associated with conspecific females at feeding or oviposition sites (e.g. simuliid, psychodid, calliphorid, and anthomyiid flies) (18, 59, 117, 148, 206). Conversely, after oviposition, females of tephritid, agromyzid, and other anthomyiid species deposit host-marking pheromone, which deters repeated egg laying at sites that can support only a limited number of larvae (158, 178, 198). Only for the tephritid *Ceratitis capitata*, however, is there good evidence that individual females respond either positively or negatively, depending on the conditions, to the current or past presence of other females (see section on variation among studies for further information).

Hymenoptera

Among parasitoids of insects, grouping of adults in nature has been Parasitoids observed primarily only when males are responding to an attractive pheromone of females (79), although agonistic encounters do occur between females at oviposition sites (70, 107). Some investigators, however, have created groups of females artificially (by combining them together in cages) and have found that in both mated Leptopilina heterotoma parasitoids of Drosophila larvae and virgin Monoctonus paulensis parasitoids of aphids, females held in groups but subsequently foraging alone laid more eggs per already-parasitized host than did isolated females (i.e. they superparasitized more often) (151, 244). This same pattern occurred for L. heterotoma females foraging together for hosts versus alone (242). Both of these parasitoids are solitary, with only one larva emerging per host, and could incur a fitness cost by overloading a host with progeny (79). Many solitary-parasitoid females deposit a host-marking pheromone as a cue for avoiding self-superparasitism (79, 239). Even so, superparasitism is predicted to enhance female fitness under certain ecological conditions (79, 241) and, as is shown in these examples, can be influenced by the reaction of females to a perceived presence of conspecific females in the habitat.

Sawflies Aggregation of eggs laid by different females is commonplace for diprionid sawflies on conifers and for shoot-galling sawflies on willows (23, 41, 50). For both, there is no evidence of a positive response of ovipositing females to stimuli from other females or from eggs. Rather, in diprionid sawflies, egg grouping apparently arises as a result of a limited availability of suitable oviposition sites (23, 41). In shoot-galling sawflies, it arises via the influence of developing larvae, whose feeding leads to an increased, vigorous local shoot growth highly favorable for further oviposition (50). Individual diprionid larvae benefit from aggregation via enhanced physical and chemical defense capabilities against predators

(41) and a better ability to overcome plant defenses (149). For shoot-galling sawflies, there is no apparent benefit (such as generation of a nutrient sink) or cost (such as resource competition) associated with conspecific larvae co-occurring on the same shoot (50). Costs of grouping in diprionid sawflies may be enhanced egg conspicuousness to parasitoids, an increased rate of infective viral transmission among larvae, and increased competition among larvae (41). In *Neodiprion autumnalis* there appears to be a range in larval group size maximally conducive to balancing benefits and costs (149). Even though eggs frequently are aggregated, a pheromone emitted from eggs deters oviposition in areas immediately adjacent to existing eggs in some diprionids (231), resulting in a well-spaced grouping of eggs. In shoot-galling sawflies, previous oviposition scars deter females from ovipositioning on shoots on which all potential oviposition sites bear such scars (50).

Other Hymenoptera Owing to space limitation, we do not deal with bees or wasps (solitary or social) or ants.

VARIATION AMONG STUDIES IN FINDINGS ON JOINING AND AVOIDING

Our description of joining or avoidance behavior resulting in grouping or spacing given in examples in the preceding section does not convey a robust sense of how differences in experimental approach, geographic region, or conditions under which studies are conducted can give rise to differing (even opposing) findings. Here, we deal briefly with studies (including our own) of joining and avoidance behavior of males (associated with mating behavior) and females (associated with oviposition behavior) of the Mediterranean fruit fly, *Ceratitis capitata*.

Male medflies form leks (171) whose locations within a habitat, formative mechanisms, size, and suggested benefits or costs differ considerably among published reports. For example, under conditions in which mature wild-origin males were released into patches of artificial trees in a field cage, males formed leks preferentially on trees baited with ripe fruit and responded positively to a pheromone emitted by caged males serving as pioneers (119). Conversely, census data on the distribution of wild medflies among dozens of trees at a field site revealed that males formed leks preferentially on trees bearing unripe fruit, even though various host trees bearing ripe fruit were present (212). Moreover, lab-cultured males released into the field showed no positive response to a pheromone emitted by caged males serving as pioneers (209). Most investigators do concur, however, that in nature, medfly leks tend to form on leaves in sunlit areas within densely foliated tree canopies, with no more than one male occupant per leaf and with nearly all matings attributable to lekking rather than nonlekking males (260). Numbers of observed males composing a lek have ranged from 2 to 20 depending on the locale and on involvement of feral or released flies (64, 209), with amounts of carbohydrate and protein available to males and the degree of hunger of these flies potentially having strong effects on the sizes and numbers of leks formed (261). Although it remains to be determined whether per capita acquisition of female medflies increases with increasing lek size (up to some maximum), it is known that, at least in one geographical region (southern Europe), individuals in leks are highly susceptible to predation by vespid wasps attracted by male medfly pheromone (92). In Hawaii, such predators rarely are seen attacking medflies (210). It is unknown whether lek size is shaped by differing probabilities of predator attack.

Female medflies are attracted by the odor of host fruit and deposit clutches of eggs in the fruit flesh (175). In three recent studies in Hawaii, mature wildorigin females were released into field cages containing host plants and fruit and were observed for their propensity to join conspecifics. In one study, in which real host fruits were punctured before use, females showed no tendency to alight on fruit occupied by another female (R Dukas, R Prokopy, D Papaj, & J Duan, unpublished data); but in two other studies, in which fruits were visual but not odor mimics of real host fruit, females did alight preferentially on occupied fruit (172; J Rull, R Prokopy, & R Vargas, unpublished data). Neither fruit size nor egg load appeared to play a role in the differences between findings. To a potential joiner, the presence of a conspecific female on a fruit may convey the valuable information that the fruit is of acceptable quality. So also might preexisting fruit punctures, made by conspecifics or other agents, convey the valuable information that the fruit is in a state suitable for oviposition. Indeed, preexisting fruit punctures may benefit medfly females by reducing the time needed to bore into fruit flesh (hence reducing exposure to predators) and by enhancing the probability of larval survival (158, 161). In the study by Dukas et al, the value of information from preexisting fruit punctures may have overridden the value of information from the presence of conspecifics, resulting in no response to the latter.

In a study in Hawaii by Prokopy & Duan (170), examining post-alighting behavior on punctured fruit (170), more medfly females initiated boring in the presence of a conspecific female on a fruit than in its absence, suggesting the occurrence of socially facilitated oviposition. Three subsequent experiments in Hawaii by Dukas et al using punctured or artificial fruit and a protocol similar to that used by Prokopy & Duan (170) failed to corroborate this initial finding for unknown reasons. Yet in a fourth subsequent experiment in Hawaii conducted by J Rull, R Prokopy & R Vargas (unpublished data) under a different protocol than that used by Dukas et al (with a long period of observation of a group of females allowed to arrive ad libitum on artificial fruit in a tree rather than a short period of observation of a single focal female placed by the observer on a fruit), the results supported the initial finding. Again, fruit size and egg load were similar among all studies, with fruit (as in the above-described studies of the propensity of females to join conspecifics on fruit) being of sufficient size to support larvae from at least two clutches of eggs without cost from larval competition (170).

Following oviposition, medfly females deposit a host-marking pheromone by dragging the ovipositor on the fruit surface (176). The presence of such a pheromone may have several effects on alighting females, including a reduction of

the propensity to oviposit (163, 176). There exists, however, a dynamic threshold (affected by fruit size and ripeness) at which the propensity to exploit preexisting punctures is balanced by the propensity to refrain from risking negative effects of competition with existing occupants (160, 162). Therefore, depending on the context, an alighting female may or may not refrain from ovipositing in a pheromone-marked fruit.

This account suggests that a broad range of variables, including the genetic origin and the physiological and informational states of the insect, the state of the resource environment, the geographical region, and the nature of the experimental protocol, can have a marked influence on the degree to which an individual expresses a tendency to be positive, neutral, or negative with regard to joining a group or adding progeny to occupied sites. Recognizing and developing concepts for coping with the kinds of variation discussed here are essential for progress toward understanding the dynamic nature of joining/avoidance behavior, grouping/spacing outcomes, and facilitation/inhibition phenomena in insects and other organisms.

POPULATION PERSPECTIVE

When individuals are either attracted to or repelled from resources by conspecifics, the distribution of a population across resources will deviate from random. In the former case, individuals in populations will be underdispersed (or aggregated), but in the latter they will be overdispersed or spaced out. The consequences of such patterns can be addressed via models of population dynamics in which division of resources depends on the distribution of individuals among those resources plus the form of competition (i.e. interference versus contest). Lomnicki (140) provides an excellent introduction to the effects of resource division on population growth.

There are two major issues associated with individual responses to conspecifics. In the first, the nonuniform distribution of individuals among resources is the principal focus. In the second, increases or decreases in expression of particular behaviors (here we include growth and maturation rates) can generate densitydependent effects at the population level. Thus, we return to the important but often confusing concept of individual versus population phenomena. That is to say, processes that benefit the individual may or may not affect population productivity.

We illustrate the potential importance of behavioral responses to populationor community-level phenomena by focusing on a few areas of applied population biology: medical entomology, conservation biology, and insect control via release of sterile males. Due to space limitations, we concentrate on those situations in which individuals are attracted to conspecifics.

Medical Entomology

The epidemiology of many insect-vectored diseases can vary as a function of biting heterogeneity (i.e. the distribution of bites across hosts) (9, 63). Early work on the population dynamics of diseases such as malaria assumed a uniform distribution

of bites across hosts; in other words, it was assumed that all hosts were equally susceptible. More recent work has demonstrated that a disproportionate number of bites on some hosts can affect the stability properties of epidemics as well as absolute numbers of infected hosts (126). If individuals are attracted to hosts that are already serving as blood sources for conspecifics, biting heterogeneity will ensue. There is evidence for this "invitation" effect in blackflies (147), midges (21), and sandflies (206), with host-seeking females being attracted to already-feeding conspecifics. Interestingly, while the number of bites on attacked hosts increases under such an invitation, the per capita rates of host-mediated feeding success may decline as the density of biting individuals increases (121). To understand why a female would be attracted to conspecifics, one must consider the payoffs that individuals might accrue by joining an already-feeding female(s) against the expected payoffs from seeking a different host (10).

The Allee Effect and Conservation Biology

Most insect populations exhibit a minimum viable size below which extinction is highly probable. At such densities, populations are particularly susceptible to stochastic demographic events (131) and in some cases to negative densitydependent processes (depensation) (226). When the latter effects are applied to individuals, they are known as Allee effects (5).

Stephens et al (226) recently defined an Allee effect as a positive relationship between any component of individual fitness and either numbers or density of conspecifics. As noted earlier, there are a number of mechanisms that could cause such an effect, including positive density-dependent vigilance (246), reduced per capita capture as prey via dilution effects (246), aposematism (77), and mate attraction (154). Thus, the Allee effect is essentially "a shortage of (positive) interactions among conspecifics at low density" (48). How do individual responses to conspecifics enter into our discussion? The key here is that attraction to conspecifics increases the number of interactions above that expected from straight density considerations. Thus, the Allee effect would be mitigated by attraction. Conversely, avoidance of conspecifics would exacerbate an Allee effect. Thus, minimal viable population size in species with positive interactions must take conspecific attraction/repulsion into account. This concept provides an important interface between behavior and conservation biology (51, 193, 225). A potentially intriguing but complicating aspect of this concept is the notion that attraction/repulsion is a flexible trait. The question then becomes: How is the response to conspecifics expressed at low population densities?

Sterile-Male Technique

Pest control via the sterile-male technique has been applied successfully on a number of occasions (16). In a sense, it is an application of the Allee effect in that the impact of release of sterile males increases as the target population decreases in size (48). In the simplest models for estimating the impact of sterile-male release, the habitat has no spatial structure and heterospecifics encounter one

another randomly (128). Attraction of individuals to conspecifics is important in two ways. First, upon release, sterile males may locate females more readily by associating with fertile consexuals if the latter have secured positions where females are likely to frequent, as suggested by Shelly & Whittier (213). Second, for species whose males associate in leks, determination of the probability that a sterile male will copulate with a fertile female is much more complex than it is for nonlekking species. Unfortunately, much of the sterile-male release theory assumes that females encounter and mate with males randomly (111). Here, we expect that the degree to which males are attracted to conspecifics will impact the efficacy of sterile-male releases. Horng & Plant (105) developed an elegant model for the Caribbean fruit fly, *Anastrepha suspensa*, and showed that lekking behavior has a nonlinear effect on the efficacy of sterile-male releases. Their model assumed that arrival at leks was a Poisson process. We speculate that nonrandom arrival rates at lek sites will further complicate the situation.

CONCLUSIONS

Our review of the literature demonstrates that many kinds of nonsocial insects respond to the presence of consexual conspecifics; in some cases there is clearly joining, whereas in others there is clearly avoidance. The former leads to grouping and may involve facilitation, while the latter leads to spacing out of individuals and may lead to inhibition. Furthermore, the literature suggests that the mechanisms and the circumstances that determine how such responses are expressed, and the types of associated benefits and costs, differ widely. Our functional analysis suggests that the majority of such responses can be explained by selection at the level of the individual. This is true whether the focal organism engages in apparently cooperative or agonistic behavior (3).

In many of the cases we have reviewed, the payoff to the individual for joining or avoiding conspecifics depends on (*a*) the response of conspecifics to such actions and (*b*) the physiological and ecological context within which such decisions are made. To date, few insect-based studies have been conducted in either realm even though insects often are excellent subjects for such endeavors. For example, over the past 5 years, according to *Current Contents*, only 10 papers have dealt explicitly with ideal free distributions of insects, compared with 34 for fish, whereas publications on fish in general outnumber entomological papers by less than 2:1 (P < 0.05, chi-square test). One can only speculate on the reasons for this taxonomic bias.

Finally, we encourage others to consider carefully the fitness consequences to individuals of being solitary or grouped and, furthermore, to study several areas in which our knowledge of joining/avoiding is weak:

- Empirical measures of fitness at the individual level for joining or avoiding conspecifics;
- 2. Application of game theory models to insect foraging problems;

- 3. Experimental work on contextual responses of individuals;
- 4. More empirical measures of possible Allee effects.

Taken together, studies of responses of individuals to consexual conspecifics offer insights into both pure and applied entomology at both the individual and population level.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Todd Shelly, Ed Mondor, Reuven Dukas, and Tracy Leskey for stimulating discussions and suggestions, to Juan Rull and Jaime Piñero for help in obtaining relevant literature for review, and to Starker Wright and Jaime Piñero for organizational and typing expertise. The unpublished research on Mediterranean fruit flies was supported by USDA NRI grant 9702562.

Visit the Annual Reviews home page at www.AnnualReviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Abernathy RL, Teal PEA, Tumlinson JH. 1994. Age and crowding affect the amount of sex pheromone and the oviposition rates of virgin and mated females of *Helicoverpa zea. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.* 87:350– 54
- Adamo SA, Hoy RR. 1995. Agonistic behavior in male and female field crickets, *Gryllus bimaculatus*, and how behavioral context influences its expression. *Anim. Behav.* 49:1491–501
- Alcock J. 1982. Natural selection and communication among bark beetles. *Fla. Entomol.* 65:17–32
- Aldrich JR. 1988. Chemical ecology of Heteroptera. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 33: 211–38
- Allee WC. 1931. Animal Aggregations, a Study in General Sociology. Chicago: Univ. Chicago Press
- Anderbrant O, Schlyter F, Birgersson G. 1985. Intraspecific competition affecting parents and offspring in the bark beetle *Ips typographus*. *Oikos* 45:89–98
- Andersen P, Löfqvist J. 1996. Asymmetric oviposition behavior and the influence of larval competition in the two pyralid moths

Ephestia kuehniella and *Plodia interpunctella. Oikos* 76:47–56

- Anderson JB, Brower LP. 1996. Freezeprotection of overwintering monarch butterflies in Mexico: critical role of the forest as a blanket and an umbrella. *Ecol. Entomol.* 21:107–16
- Anderson R, May R. 1992. Infectious Diseases of Humans. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Anderson R, Roitberg B. 1999. Modeling feeding persistence in mosquitoes. *Ecol. Lett.* 2:98–105
- Applebaum SW, Heifetz Y. 1999. Densitydependent physiological phase in insects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 44:317–41
- Aspi J, Hoffman AA. 1998. Female encounter rates and fighting costs of males are associated with lek size in *Drosophila mycetophaga*. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 42: 163–69
- Assad YOH, Hassanali A, Torto B, Mahamat H, Bashir NH, Bashir SE. 1997. Effects of fifth-instar volatiles on sexual maturation of adult desert locust *Schistocerca gregaria*. J. Chem. Ecol. 23:1373– 88

- Bartelt RJ, Schaner AM, Jackson LL. 1985. cis-Vaccenyl acetate as an aggregation pheromone in Drosophila melanogaster. J. Chem. Ecol. 12:1747– 56
- Bartelt RJ, Schaner AM, Jackson LL. 1986. Aggregation pheromones in five taxa of the *Drosophila virilis* species group. *Physiol. Entomol.* 11:367–76
- Bartlett AC. 1991. Insect sterility, insect genetics and insect control. In CRC Handbook of Pest Management, ed. D Pimentel, pp. 279–87. Boca Raton, FL: CRC
- Bartlett J. 1987. Filial cannibalism in burying beetles. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 21:179–83
- Barton-Browne L, Bartelt RJ, Shorey HH. 1969. Pheromone mediated behavior leading to group oviposition in the blackfly *Lucilia cuprina*. J. Insect Physiol. 15:1003–14
- 18a. Bashir MO, Hassanali A, Rai MM, Saini RK. 2000. Changing oviposition preferences of the desert locust, *Schistocerca* gregaria, suggest a strong species predisposition for gregarization. J. Chem. Ecol. 26:1721–33
- Beck J, Muhlenberg E, Fiedler K. 1999. Mud-puddling behavior in tropical butterflies: in search of proteins or minerals. *Oecologia* 119:140–48
- Bentley MD, Day JF. 1989. Chemical ecology and behavioral aspects of mosquito oviposition. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 34:401–21
- Blackwell A, Dyer C, Mordue AJ, Wadhams LJ, Mordue W. 1994. Field and laboratory evidence for a volatile pheromone produced by parous females of the Scottish biting midge, *Culicoides impunctatus. Physiol. Entomol.* 19:251–55
- 22. Blackwell A, Dyer C, Mordue AJ, Wadhams LJ, Mordue W. 1996. The role of 1-octen-3-ol as a host-odour attractant for the biting midge, *Culicoides impunctatus*, and interactions of 1-octen-3-ol

with a volatile pheromone produced by parous female midges. *Physiol. Entomol.* 21:15–19

- Blumke A, Anderbrant O. 1997. Oviposition pattern and behavior of the pine sawfly Neodiprion sertifer. Bull. Entomol. Res. 87:231–38
- Bouskila A, Robinson M, Roitberg B, Tenhumberg B. 1998. Life history evolution under predator threat: importance of a game perspective. *Evol. Ecol.* 12:701– 15.
- Brower LP, Malcolm SB. 1991. Animal migrations: endangered phenomena. *Am. Zool.* 31:265–76
- Buck J. 1988. Synchronous rhythmic flashing of fireflies. Q. Rev. Biol. 63:265–89
- Byers JA. 1989. Chemical ecology of bark beetles. *Experientia* 45:271–83
- Cade WH, Cade ES. 1992. Male mating success, calling and searching behavior at high and low densities in the field cricket, *Gryllus integer. Anim. Behav.* 43:49– 56
- Cade WH, Wyatt D. 1984. Factors affecting calling behavior in field crickets, *Teleogryllus* and *Gryllus* (age, weight, density and parasites). *Behavior* 88:61–75
- Campbell CAM, Pettersson J, Picket JA, Wadhams LJ, Woodcock CM. 1993. Spring migration of damson-hop aphid *Phorodon humili*, and summer host plant-derived semiochemicals released on feeding. J. *Chem. Ecol.* 19:1569–76
- Campbell DJ. 1990. Resolution of spatial complexity in a field sample of singing crickets *Teleogryllus commodus*: a nearest neighbor analysis. *Anim. Behav.* 39:1051– 57
- Cappucino N. 1987. Comparative population dynamics of two goldenrod aphids: spatial patterns and temporal constancy. *Ecology* 68:1634–46
- Chambers RJ, Wellings PW, Dixon AFG. 1985. Sycamore aphid numbers and population density. II. Some processes. J. Anim. Ecol. 54:425–42

- Chapman RF, Page WW, McCaffery AR. 1986. Bionomics of the variegated grasshopper *Zonocerus variegatus* in west and central Africa. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 31:479–505
- Chess KF, Ringo JM, Dowse HB. 1990. Oviposition by two species of *Drosophila*: behavioral responses to resource distribution and competition. *Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.* 83:717–24
- Clark BR, Faeth SH. 1997. The consequences of larval aggregation in the butterfly, *Chlosyne lacinia*. *Ecol. Entomol.* 22:408–15
- Clark BR, Faeth SH. 1998. The evolution of egg clustering in butterflies: a test of the egg desiccation hypothesis. *Evol. Ecol.* 12:543–52
- Clayton DA. 1978. Socially facilitated behavior. Q. Rev. Biol 53:373–92
- Cloutier C. 1997. Facilitated predation through interaction between life stages in the stinkbug predator *Perillus bioculatus*. *J. Insect Behav.* 10:581–98
- Clutton-Brock TH. 1998. Reproductive skew, concessions and limited control *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 13:288–92
- Codella SG, Raffa KF. 1995. Contributions of female oviposition patterns and larval behavior to group defense in conifer sawflies. *Oecologia* 103:24–33
- Collett M, Despland E., Simpson SJ, Krakauer DC. 1998. Spatial scales of desert locust gregarization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 95:13052–55
- Collins RD, Bell WJ. 1996. Enhancement of resource finding efficiency by visual stimuli in *Musca domestica*. J. Kans. Entomol. Soc. 69:204–7
- Copp NH. 1983. Temperature-dependent behavior and cluster formation by aggregating ladybird beetles. *Anim. Behav.* 31:424–30
- 45. Corbet SA. 1971. Mandibular gland secretion of larvae of the flour moth *Anagasta kuehniella* contains an epideictic pheromone and elicits oviposition move-

ments in a hymenopterous parasite. *Nature* 232:481–84

- Corbet SA. 1973. Oviposition pheromone in larval mandibular glands of *Ephestia* kuehniella. Nature 243:537–38
- Costa JT, Pierce NE. 1997. Social evolution in the Lepidoptera: ecological context and communication in larval societies. In *The Evolution of Social Behavior in Insects and Arachnids*, ed. JC Choe, BJ Crespi, pp. 407–42. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Courchamp F, Clutton-Brock TH, Grenfell B. 1999. Inverse density dependence and the Allee effect. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 14:405– 11
- 49. Courtney SP, Parker GA. 1985. Mating behavior of the tiger butterfly (*Tarucus theophrastus*): competitive mate-searching when not all females are captured. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 17:213–21
- Craig TP, Itami JK, Price PW. 1990. Intraspecific competition and facilitation by a shoot-galling sawfly. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 59: 147–59
- Curio E. 1996. Conservation needs ethology. Trends Evol. Ecol. 11:260–63.
- Dambach M, Goehlen B. 1999. Aggregation density and longevity correlate with humidity in first-instar nymphs of the cockroach *Blattella germanica*. J. Insect Physiol. 45:423–29
- Danchin E, Wagner RH. 1997. The evolution of coloniality: the emergence of new perspectives. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 12:342–47
- Denno RF, Benray B. 1997. Aggregation facilitates larval growth in the neotropical nymphalid butterfly *Chlosyne janais*. *Ecol. Entomol.* 22:133–41
- Denno RF, McClure MS, Ott JR. 1995. Interspecific interactions in phytophagous insects. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 40:297–331
- 56. Dixon AFG, Wellings PW, Carter C, Nichols JFA. 1993. The role of food quality and competition in shaping the seasonal cycle in the reproductive activity of the sycamore aphid. *Oceologia* 95:89–92

- Doolan JM. 1981. Male spacing and the influence of female courtship in the bladder cicada, *Cystosoma saundersii. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 9:269–76
- Doolan JM, MacNally RC. 1981. Spatial dynamics and breeding ecology in the cicada *Cytosoma saundersii*: the interaction between distributions of resources and intraspecific behavior. J. Anim. Ecol. 50:925– 40
- Dougherty M, Hamilton G. 1997. Dodecanoic acid is the oviposition pheromone of *Lutzomyia longipalpis*. J. Chem. Ecol. 23:2657–71
- Droney DC. 1994. Tests of hypotheses for lek formation in a Hawaiian *Drosophila*. *Anim. Behav*. 47:351–61
- Dunning DC, Byers JA, Zanger CD. 1979. Courtship in two species of cicadas, Magicicada septendecim and Magicicada cassini. Anim. Behav. 27:1073–90
- Dybas HS, Davis DD. 1962. A population census of seventeen-year cicada. *Auk* 41:468–70
- Dye C, Hasibeder G. 1986. Population dynamics of mosquito-borne disease: effects of flies which bite some people more frequently than others. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 83:69–77
- 64. Eberhard WG. 2000. Sexual behavior and sexual selection in the Mediterranean fruit fly, *Ceratitis capitata*. In *Fruit Flies* (*Tephritidae*): *Phylogeny and Evolution of Behavior*, ed. M Aluja, AL Norrbom, pp. 459–89. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press
- Edgerly JS, McFarland M, Morgan P, Livdahl T. 1998. A seasonal shift in egglaying behavior in response to cues of future competition in a treehole mosquito. J. Anim. Ecol. 67:805–18
- 66. Eggert AK, Muller JK. 1997. Biparental care and social evolution in burying beetles: lessons from the larder. In *The Evolution of Social Behavior in Insects and Arachnids*, ed. JC Choe, BJ Crespi, pp. 216–36. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press

- Ellis PE, Pearce A. 1962. Innate and learned behavior patterns that lead to group formation in locust hoppers. *Anim. Behav.* 10:305–18
- Ezoe H. 1995. Evolutionarily seasonal timing for insects with competition for renewable resources. *Evol. Ecol.* 9:328–39
- Faustini DL, Burkholder WE. 1987. Quinone-aggregation pheromone interaction in the red flour beetle. *Anim. Behav.* 35: 601–3
- Field SA, Calbert G, Keller MA. 1998. Patch defense in the parasitoid wasp *Trissolcus basalis*: the time structure of pairing contests and the "waiting" game. *Ethology* 104:821–40
- Figueiras ANL, Lazzari CR. 1998. Aggregation in the haematophagous bug *Triatoma infestans*: a novel assembling factor. *Physiol. Entomol.* 23:33–37
- Fink LS, Brower LP, Waide RB, Spitzer PR. 1983. Overwintering monarch butterflies as food for insectivorous birds in Mexico. *Biotropica* 15:151–53
- Fitzgerald TB. 1995. *The Tent Caterpillars*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell Univ. Press
- Foster SP, Harris MO. 1997. Behavioral manipulation methods for insect pestmanagement. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 42:123– 46
- French BW, McGowan EJ, Backus VL. 1986. Spatial distribution of calling field crickets, *Gryllus pennsylvanicus*. *Fla. Entomol.* 69:255–57
- 76. Gadot M, Burns E, Schal C. 1989. Juvenile hormone biosynthesis and oocyte development in adult female *Blattella germanica*: effects of grouping and mating. *Arch. Insect Biochem. Physiol.* 11:189–200
- 77. Gamberale G, Tullberg BS. 1998. Aposematism and gregariousness: the combined effects of group size and coloration on signal repellence. *Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. B* 265:889–94
- Giraldeau LA, Beauchamp G. 1999. Food exploitation: searching for the optimal joining policy. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 14:102–5

- Godfray HCJ. 1994. Parasitoids: Behavioral and Evolutionary Ecology. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- Goulson D, Cory JS. 1995. Responses of Mamestra brassicae (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) to crowding: interactions with disease resistance, colour phase and growth. Oecologia 104:416–23
- Greenfield MD. 1997. Sexual selection in resource defense polygamy: lessons from grasshoppers. In *The Evolution of Mating Systems in Insects and Arachnids*, ed. JC Choe, BJ Crespi, pp. 75–88. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Greenfield MD, Shelly TE. 1985. Alternative mating strategies in a desert grasshopper: evidence of density-dependence. *Anim. Behav.* 33:1192–220
- Gregoire JC. 1988. The greater European spruce beetle. In *Dynamics of Forest Insect Populations*, ed. AA Berryman, pp. 455– 78. New York: Plenum
- Grimaldi D, Jaenike J. 1984. Competition in natural populations of mycophagous *Drosophila. Ecology* 65:1113–20
- 85. Guerin B. 1993. *Social Facilitation*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Hamilton I. 2000. Recruiters and joiners: using optimal skew theory to predict group size and the division of resources within groups of social foragers. *Am. Nat.* 155:684–95
- Hamilton WD. 1971. Geometry for the selfish herd. J. Theor. Biol. 31:295–311
- Hardie J, Minks AK. 1999. Pheromones of Non-Lepidopteran Insects Associated with Agricultural Plants. New York: CABI
- Heard SB. 1994. Imperfect oviposition decisions by the pitcher plant mosquito (Wyeomyia smithii). Evol. Ecol. 8:493– 502
- Hedlund K, Bartelt RJ, Dicke M, Vet LEM. 1996. Aggregation pheromones of Drosophila immigrans, D. phalerata and D. subobscura. J. Chem. Ecol. 22:1835– 44

- Hedlund K, Vet LEM, Dicke M. 1996. Generalist and specialist parasitoid strategies of using odours of adult drosophilid flies when searching for larval hosts. *Oikos* 77:390–98
- Hendrichs MA, Hendrichs J. 1998. Perfumed to be killed: interception of Mediterranean fruit fly sexual signaling by predatory foraging wasps. *Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.* 91:228–34
- Herbert PDN. 1983. Egg dispersal patterns and adult feeding behavior in the Lepidoptera. *Can. Entomol.* 115:1477– 81
- Hilborn R, Mangel M. 1997. The Ecological Detective: Confronting Models with Data. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- Hilker M. 1989. Regulation der Populationsdichte Phytophager Insekten bei besonderer Berucksichtigung der Abundanzfuhler und der Eiablagehemmung. J. Appl. Entomol. 107:310–17
- 96. Hissmann K. 1990. Strategies of mate finding in the European field cricket (*Gryllus campestris*) at different population densities: a field study. *Ecol. Entomol.* 15:281–91
- Hochberg ME. 1991. Viruses as costs to gregarious feeding behavior in the Lepidoptera. *Oikos* 61:291–96
- Hodge S, Mitchell P, Arthur W. 1999. Factors affecting the occurrence of facilitative effects in interspecific interactions: an experiment using two species of *Drosophila* and *Aspergillus niger*. *Oikos* 87:166–74
- Hodgson C. 1991. Dispersal of apterous aphids from their host plants and its significance. *Bull. Entomol. Res.* 81:417–27
- Hoffmann AA, Cacoyianni Z. 1990. Territoriality in *Drosophila melanogaster* as a conditional strategy. *Anim. Behav.* 40:526–37
- Hoffmeister T, Roitberg B. 1998. Evolution of signal persistence under predator exploitation. *Ecoscience* 5:312–20

- 102. Holbrook GL, Armstrong E, Backman JAS, Deasy BM, Schal C. 2000. Role of feeding in the reproductive group effect in females of the German cockroach *Blattella germanica. J. Insect Physiol.* 46:941–49
- Holbrook GL, Schal C. 1998. Social influences on nymphal development in the cockroach *Diplotera punctata*. *Physiol. Entomol.* 23:121–30
- 104. Honma LY, Kuwahara Y, Sato M, Matsuyama S, Suzuki T. 1995. Structurally hybridized compounds between the aggregation and alarm pheromones of mites triggering conflicted behavior of *Carpoglyphus lactis. J. Pest. Sci.* 20:265– 71
- Horng SB, Plant RE. 1992. Impact of lek mating on the sterile insect technique: a modeling study. *Res. Pop. Ecol.* 34:57–76
- Howard JJ. 1993. Temporal pattern of resource use and variation in diets of individual grasshoppers. J. Insect Behav. 4:441–53
- 107. Hughes JP, Harvey IF, Hubbard SF. 1994. Host-searching behavior of Venturia canescens: interference—the effect of mature egg load and prior behavior. J. Insect Behav. 7:433–53
- Ibbotson A. 1966. Aggregation in Aphis fabae. II. Visual components. Anim. Behav. 14:251–60
- Ibbotson A, Kennedy JS. 1951. Aggregation in *Aphis fabae*. I. Aggregation on plants. *Ann. Appl. Biol.* 38:65–78
- Ikeshoji T, Mulla MS. 1970. Overcrowding factors of mosquito larvae. J. Econ. Entomol. 63:90–96
- 111. Ito Y, Miyai S, Hamada R. 1989. Modeling systems in relation to control strategies. In *Fruit Flies: Their Biology, Natural Enemies and Control*, ed. AS Robinson, G Hooper, pp. 267–79. Amsterdam: Elsevier
- Ives AR. 1989. The optimal clutch size of insects when many females oviposit per patch. *Am. Nat.* 133:671–87

- Jaenike J. 1996. Population-level consequences of parasite aggregation. *Oikos* 76:155–60
- 114. Jaenike J, James AC. 1991. Aggregation and the coexistence of mycophagous Drosophila. J. Anim. Ecol. 60:913– 28
- 115. Janssen A, Bruin J, Jacobs G, Schraag R, Sabelis MW. 1997. Predators use volatiles to avoid prey patches with conspecifics. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 66:223–32
- 116. Jones AS. 1999. Selection of oviposition sites by Aedes aegypti: behavior of gravid mosquitoes and mechanisms of attraction. PhD thesis. Univ. Mass., Amherst. 169 pp.
- Judd GJR, Borden JH. 1992. Aggregated oviposition in *Delia antiqua*: a case for mediation by semiochemicals. *J. Chem. Ecol.* 18:621–35
- Karban R. 1982. Increased reproductive success at high densities and predator satiation for periodical cicadas. *Ecology* 63:321–28
- Kaspi R, Yuval B. 1999. Lek site selection by male Mediterranean fruit flies. *J. Insect Behav.* 12:267–76
- Kay RH. 1976. Behavioral components of pheromonal aggregation in *Aphis fabae*. *Physiol. Entomol.* 1:249–54
- 121. Kelly DW, Mustafa Z, Dye C. 1996. Density-dependent feeding success in a field population of the sandfly, *Lutzomyia longipalpis*. J. Anim. Ecol. 65:517– 27
- Kennedy JS. 1961. Continuous polymorphism in locusts. *R. Entomol. Soc. Symp.* 1:80–90
- 123. Kennedy JS, Crawley L. 1967. Spacedout gregariousness in sycamore aphids, *Drepanosiphum plantanoides. J. Anim. Ecol.* 36:147–70
- 124. Kidd NAC. 1976. Aggregation in the lime aphid Eucallipterus tiliae. Oecologia 25:175–85
- 125. Kidd NAC. 1982. Predator avoidance as a result of aggregation in the gray

pine aphid, Schizolachnus pineti. J. Anim. Ecol. 51:397–412

- Kingsolver J. 1988. Mosquito host choice and the epidemiology of malaria. *Am. Nat.* 130:811–27
- 127. Kirkendall LR, Kent DS, Raffa KF. 1997. Interactions among males, females, and offspring in bark and ambrosia beetles: the significance of living in tunnels for the evolution of social behavior. In *The Evolution of Social Behavior in Insects and Arachnids*, ed. JC Choe, BJ Crespi, pp. 181–215. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Knipling EF. 1979. The Basic Principles of Insect Population Suppression and Management. US Dept. Agric. Handbook 512
- Krebs JR, Davies NB. 1993. An Introduction to Behavioural Ecology. Boston: Blackwell Sci.
- 130. Kuussaari M, Saccheri I, Camara M, Hanski I. 1998. Allee effect and population dynamics in the Glanville fritillary butterfly. *Oikos* 82:384–92
- Lande R. 1998. Demographic stochasticity and Allee effect on a scale with isotropic noise. *Oikos* 83:353–58
- Landolt P. 1997. Sex attractant and aggregation pheromones of male phytophagous insects. *Am. Entomol.* 43:12–21
- Lawrence WS. 1990. The effects of group size and host species on development and survivorship of a gregarious caterpillar, *Halisidota caryae*. Ecol. Entomol. 15:53– 62
- Leal WS. 1998. Chemical ecology of phytophagous scarab beetles. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 43:39–61
- 135. Lederhouse RC, Codella SG, Grossmueller DW, Maccarone AD. 1992. Hostplant based territoriality in the white peacock butterfly, *Anartia jatrophae. J. Insect Behav.* 5:721–27
- Livdall TP. 1982. Competition within and between hatching cohorts of a treehole mosquito. *Ecology* 63:1751–60

- Livdall TP, Edgerly JS. 1987. Egg hatching inhibition: field evidence for population regulation in a treehole mosquito. *Ecol. Entomol.* 12:395–99
- Lloyd M, Karban R. 1983. Chorusing centers of periodical cicadas. J. Kans. Entomol. Soc. 56:299–304
- Lloyd M, White J, Stanton N. 1982. Dispersal of fungus-infected periodical cicadas to new habitat. *Environ. Entomol.* 12:852–58
- Lomnicki A. 1988. Population Ecology of Individuals. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- 141. Majerus MEN. 1994. Ladybirds, the New Naturalists. London: Harper Collins
- 142. Mallet JLB, Jackson DA. 1980. The ecology and social behavior of the neotropical butterfly *Heliconius xanthocles* in Columbia. *Zool. J. Linn. Soc.* 70:1–13
- 143. Mangel M, Clark CW. 1988. Dynamic Modeling in Behavioral Ecology. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- 144. Mangel M, Roitberg BD. 1989. Dynamic information and oviposition decisions in a fruit fly. *Ecol. Entomol.* 14:181–89
- 145. Maynard Smith J. 1982. Evolution and the Theory of Games. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- McCall PJ, Cameron MM. 1995. Oviposition pheromones in insect vectors. *Parasitol. Today* 11:352–55
- 147. McCall PJ, Lemoh PA. 1997. Evidence for the "invitation effect" during bloodfeeding by blackflies of the *Simulium damnosum* complex. J. Insect Behav. 10:299–303
- 148. McCall PJ, Wilson MD, Dueben BD, Bronsvoort BM, Heath RR. 1997. Similarity in oviposition aggregation pheromone composition within the Simulium damnosum species complex. Bull. Entomol. Res. 87:609–16
- 149. McMillin JD, Wagner MR. 1998. Larval group size influences the survival and size of *Neodiprion autumnalis*. Southwest. Entomol. 23:199–201

- Michaud JP. 1999. Aggregation by alatae of *Toxoptera citricada*. Environ. Entomol. 28:205–11
- Michaud JP, Mackauer M. 1995. Oviposition behavior of *Monoctonus paulen*sis: factors influencing reproductive allocation to hosts and host patches. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 88:220–26
- Miller DG. 1998. Consequences of communal gall occupation and a test for kin discrimination in the aphid *Tamalia coweni. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 43:95–103
- Monaco EL, Tallamy DW, Johnson RK. 1998. Chemical mediation of egg dumping in the lace bug *Gargaphia solani*. *Anim. Behav.* 56:1491–95
- 154. Morris GK, Kerr GE, Fullard JH. 1978. Phonotactic preferences of female meadow katydids (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae: *Conocephalus nigropleurum*). Can. J. Zool. 56:1479–87
- Müller KL. 1998. The role of conspecifics in habitat settlement in a territorial grasshopper. *Anim. Behav.* 56:479–85
- 156. Njagi PGN, Torto B, Obeng-Ofori D, Hassanali A. 1996. Phase-dependent response to phase-specific aggregation pheromone in adult desert locusts, *Schistocerca gregaria. Physiol. Entomol.* 21: 131–37
- 157. Paine TD, Raffa KF, Harrington TC. 1997. Interaction among scolytid bark beetles, their associated fungi, and live host colonies. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 42:179–206
- 158. Papaj DR. 1993. Use and avoidance of occupied hosts as a dynamic process in tephritid flies. In *Insect-Plant Interactions*, ed. EA Bernays, pp. 25–46. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press
- Papaj DR. 2000. Ovarian dynamics and host use. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 45:423–48
- 160. Papaj DR, Averill AL, Prokopy RJ, Wong TTY. 1992. Host-marking pheromone and use of previously established oviposition sites by the Mediterranean fruit fly. J. Insect Behav. 5:583–98

- Papaj DR, Katsoyannos BI, Hendrichs J. 1989. Use of fruit wounds in oviposition by Mediterranean fruit flies. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.* 53:203–9
- 162. Papaj DR, Messing RH. 1996. Functional shifts in the use of parasitized hosts by a tephritid fly: the role of host quality. *Behav. Ecol.* 7:235–42
- 163. Papaj DR, Roitberg BD, Opp SB. 1989. Serial effects of host infestation on egg allocation by the Mediterranean fruit fly: a rule of thumb and its functional significance. J. Anim. Ecol. 58:955–70
- Park T. 1933. Studies on population physiology. II. Factors regulating growth of *Tribolium confusum* populations. *J. Exp. Zool.* 65:17–42
- Pettersson J, Quiroz A, Stephansson D, Niemeyer HM. 1995. Odour communication of *Rhopalosiphum padi* on grasses. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.* 76:325–28
- 166. Phillips TW, Strand MR. 1994. Larval secretion and food odors affect oviposition in female *Plodia interpunctella*. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.* 71:185–92
- Pickett JA, Wadhams LJ, Woodcock CM, Hardie J. 1992. The chemical ecology of aphids. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 37:67–90
- 168. Pierce AM, Borden JH, Oehlschlager AC. 1990. Suppression of oviposition in Orzaephilus surinamensis following prolonged retention in high density cultures or short term exposure to larval volatiles. J. Chem. Ecol. 16:595–601
- 169. Podoler H. 1973. Effects of intraspecific competition in the Indian meal moth *Plodia interpunctella* on populations of the moth and its parasite *Nemeritis canescens. J. Anim. Ecol.* 43:641–51
- Prokopy RJ, Duan JJ. 1998. Socially facilitated egg laying behavior in Mediterranean fruit flies. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 42:117–22
- 171. Prokopy RJ, Hendrichs J. 1979. Mating behavior of *Ceratitis capitata* on a fieldcaged host tree. *Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.* 72:642–48

- 172. Prokopy RJ, Miller NW, Duan JJ, Vargas RI. 2000. Local enhancement of arrivals of *Ceratitis capitata* females on fruit mimics. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.* In press
- 173. Prokopy RJ, Roitberg BD, Averill AL. 1984. Resource partitioning. In *Chemi*cal Ecology of Insects, ed. WJ Bell, RT Carde, pp. 301–30. New York: Chapman & Hall
- 174. Prokopy RJ, Romig MC, Drew RAI. 1999. Facilitation in oviposition behavior of *Bactrocera tryoni* flies. *J. Insect Behav.* 12:815–32
- Prokopy RJ, Vargas RI. 1996. Attraction of *Ceratitis capitata* flies to odor of coffee fruit. J. Chem. Ecol. 22:807–20
- 176. Prokopy RJ, Ziegler JR, Wong TT. 1978. Deterrence of repeated oviposition by fruit-marking pheromone in *Ceratitis capitata. J. Chem. Ecol.* 4:55–63
- 177. Pulliam HR, Caraco T. 1984. Living in groups: Is there an optimal group size? In *Behavioral Ecology: An Evolutionary Approach*, ed. JR Krebs, NB Davies, pp. 122–47. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer
- 178. Quiring DT, Sweeney JW, Bennett RG. 1998. Evidence for a host-marking pheromone in white spruce cone fly, *Strobilomyia neanthracina*. J. Chem. Ecol. 24:709–21
- 179. Quiroz A, Pettersson J, Picket JA, Wadhams LJ, Niemeyer HM. 1997. Semiochemicals mediating spacing behavior of bird cherry- oat aphid, *Rhopalosiphum padi*, feeding on cereals. J. Chem. Ecol. 23:2599–607
- Raffa KF, Berryman AA. 1983. The role of host plant resistance in the colonization behavior and ecology of bark beetles. *Ecol. Monogr.* 53:27–49
- Raffa KF, Dahlsten DL. 1995. Differential responses among natural enemies and prey to bark beetle pheromones. *Oecologia* 102:17–23
- 182. Raffa KF, Phillips TW, Salom SM. 1993. Strategies and mechanisms of host colonization by bark beetles. In

Beetle-Pathogen Interactions in Conifer Forests, ed. T Schowalter, G Filip, pp. 102–28. San Diego: Academic

- Rasa OA. 1997. Aggregation in a desert tenebrionid beetle: a cost/benefit analysis. *Ethology* 103:466–87
- Reeve JD, Rhodes DJ, Turchin P. 1998. Scramble competition in the southern pine beetle, *Dendroctonus frontalis. Ecol. Entomol.* 23:433–43
- Renshaw M, Service MW, Birley MH. 1993. Density-dependent regulation of *Aedes cantans* in natural and artificial populations. *Ecol. Entomol.* 18:223–33
- 186. Richards A, Cory J, Speight M, Williams T. 1999. Foraging in a pathogen reservoir can lead to local host population extinction: a case study of Lepidoptera-virus interactions. *Oecologia* 118:29–38
- 187. Robertson IC, Robertson WG, Roitberg BD. 1998. A model of mutual tolerance and the origin of communal associations between unrelated females. J. Insect Behav. 11:265–85
- Robertson IC, Roitberg BD, Williamson I, Senger S. 1995. Contextual ecology. *Am. Entomol.* 41:237–40
- 189. Robins GL, Reid ML. 1997. Effects of density on the reproductive success of pine engravers: Is aggregation in dead trees beneficial? *Ecol. Entomol.* 22:129– 34
- 190. Roessingh P, Bouaichi A, Simpson SJ. 1998. Effects of sensory stimuli on the behavioral phase state of the desert locust, *Schistocerca gregaria*. J. Insect Physiol. 44:883–93
- 191. Roessingh P, Simpson SJ, James S. 1993. Analysis of phase related changes in the behavior of desert locust nymphs. *Proc. R. Soc. Oxford B* 252:43–49
- Roffey J, Popov G. 1968. Environmental and behavioral processes in a desert locust outbreak. *Nature* 219:446–50
- 193. Roitberg B. 1998. Oviposition decisions as maternal effects: conundrums and opportunities for conservation biologists. In

The Adaptive Nature of Maternal Effects, ed. T Mousseau, C Fox, pp. 273–93. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press

- 194. Roitberg B, Cairl R, Prokopy RJ. 1984. Oviposition deterring pheromone influences dispersal distance in tephritid fruit flies. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.* 35:217–20
- Roitberg B, Mangel M. 1993. Parentoffspring conflict and life-history consequences in herbivorous insect. *Am. Nat.* 142:443–56
- 196. Roitberg B, Mangel M. 1997. Individuals on the landscape: Behavior can mitigate differences among habitats. *Oikos* 80:234–40
- 197. Roitberg B, Mangel M, Lalonde R, Roitberg C, van Alphen J, Vet L. 1992. Seasonal dynamic shifts in patch exploitation by parasitic wasps. *Behav. Ecol.* 3:156–65
- Roitberg BD, Prokopy RJ. 1987. Insects that mark host plants. *BioScience* 37:400– 6
- 199. Ross MH, Tignor KR. 1986. Response of German cockroaches to a dispersant and other substances secreted by crowded adults and nymphs. *Proc. Entomol. Soc. Wash.* 88:25–29
- Rust MK, Appel AG. 1985. Intra- and interspecific aggregation in some nymphal blattelid cockroaches. *Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.* 78:107–10
- 201. Ryall KL, Smith SM. 1997. Intraspecific larval competition and brood production in *Tomicus piniperda*. Proc. Entomol. Soc. Ontario 128:19–26
- 202. Sakaluk SK, Belwood JJ. 1984. Gecko phonotaxis to cricket calling song: a case of satellite predation. *Anim. Behav.* 32: 659–62
- 203. Sanai RK, Rai MM, Hassanali A, Wawiye J, Odongo H. 1995. Semiochemicals from froth of egg pods attract ovipositing female Schistocerca gregaria. J. Insect Physiol. 41:711–16
- 204. Saunders DS, Wheeler IA, Kerr A. 1999. Survival and reproduction of small blow flies (*Calliphora vicina*; Diptera:

Calliphoridae) produced in severely overcrowded short-day larval cultures. *Eur. J. Entomol.* 96:19–22

- 205. Savoie A, Borden JH, Pierce HD, Gries R, Gries G. 1998. Aggregation pheromone of *Pitogenes knechteli* and semio-chemical-based interactions with three other bark beetles. *J. Chem. Ecol.* 24:321–37
- 206. Schlein Y, Yuval B, Warburg A. 1984. Aggregation pheromone released from the palps of feeding female *Phlebotomus papatasi. J. Insect Physiol.* 30:153–56
- Scott MP. 1990. Brood guarding and the evolution of male parental care in burying beetles. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 26:31–39
- Scott MP. 1998. The ecology and behavior of burying beetles. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 43:595–618
- Shelley TE. 2000. Male signaling and lek attractiveness in the Mediterranean fruit fly. *Anim. Behav.* In press
- 210. Shelley TE. 2000. Lek size and female visitation in two species of tephritid fruit flies. *Anim. Behav.* In press
- Shelly TE, Greenfield MD. 1991. Dominions and desert clickers: influences of resources and male signaling on female settlement patterns. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 28:133–40
- 212. Shelley TE, Whittier TS. 1994. Lek distribution in the Mediterranean fruit fly: influences of tree size, foliage density and neighborhood. *Proc. Haw. Entomol. Soc.* 32:113–21
- Shelly TE, Whittier TS. 1996. Mating competitiveness of sterile Mediterranean fruit flies (Diptera: Tephritidae) in maleonly releases. *Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.* 89:754–58
- 214. Shelly TE, Whittier TS. 1997. Lek behavior of insects. In *The Evolution of Mating Systems in Insects and Arachnids*, ed. JC Choe, BJ Crespi, pp. 273–93. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Shields O. 1967. Hilltopping. J. Res. Lepid. 6:69–178

- 216. Simpson SJ, McCaffery AR, Hagele BF. 1999. A behavioral analysis of phase change in the desert locust. *Biol. Rev.* 74:461–80
- 217. Sivinski JM, Petersson E. 1997. Mate choice and species isolation in swarming insects. In *The Evolution of Mating Systems in Insects and Arachnids*, ed. JC Choe, BJ Crespi, pp. 294–309. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- 218. Spivak M, Conlon D, Bell WJ. 1991. Wind-guided landing and search behavior in fleshflies and blowflies exploiting a resource patch. *Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am.* 84:447–52
- Srygley RB, Penz CM. 1999. Lekking in neotropical owl butterflies, *Caligo illoneus* and *C. oileus*. J. Insect Behav. 12:81–103
- 220. Stamp N. 1980. Egg deposition patterns in butterflies: Why do some species cluster their eggs rather than deposit them singly? *Am. Nat.* 115:367–80
- 221. Stamp N. 1981. Effect of group size on parasitism in a natural population of the Baltimore checkerspot *Euphydryas phaeton*. *Oecologia* 49:201–6
- 222. Stamps JA. 1987. Conspecifics as cues to territory quality: a preference of juvenile lizards (*Anolis aeneus*) for previously used territories. *Am. Nat.* 129:629–42
- 223. Stamps JA. 1988. Conspecific attraction and aggregation in territorial species. *Am. Nat.* 131:329–47
- Stejskal V. 1997. Distribution of faeces of the German cockroach, *Blattella germanica*, in a new refuge. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.* 84:201–5
- 225. Stephens PA, Sutherland WJ. 1999. Consequences of the Allee effect for behaviour, ecology and conservation. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 14:401–5
- 226. Stephens PA, Sutherland WJ, Freckleton RP. 1999. What is the Allee effect? *Oikos* 87:185–90
- Stern DL, Foster WA. 1997. The evolution of sociality in aphids. In *The Evolution*

of Social Behavior in Insects and Arachnids, ed. JC Choe, BJ Crespi, pp. 150–65. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press

- 228. Storer AJ, Wainhouse D, Speight MR. 1997. The effect of larval aggregation behavior on larval growth of the spruce bark beetle *Dendroctonus micans*. *Ecol. Entomol.* 22:109–15
- 229. Sword GA, Simpson SJ, Hadi OTM, Wilps H. 2000. Density-dependent aposematism in the desert locust. *Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. B* 267:63–68
- 230. Tallamy DW, Schaefer C. 1997. Maternal care in the Hemiptera: ancestry, alternatives, and current adaptive value. In *The Evolution of Social Behavior in Insects and Arachnids*, ed. JC Choe, BJ Crespi, pp. 94–115. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Tisdale RA, Wagner MR. 1991. Oviposition behavior of *Neodiprion fulviceps* on ponderosa pine. J. Insect Behav. 4:609–17
- 232. Torto B, Assad YOH, Njagi PGN, Hassanali A. 1999. Semiochemical modulation of oviposition behavior in the gregarious desert locust *Schistocerca gregaria*. *Pesticide Sci.* 55:566–614
- 233. Trematerra P, Fontana F, Mancini M. 1996. Effects of accumulated dead and alive insects in traps on the capture of *Tribolium castaneum* (Herbst). *Anzeiger Schaedlingskunde Pflanzenschutz Umweltschutz* 69:3–9
- Trumbo ST. 1992. Monogamy to communal breeding: exploitation of a broad resource base by burying beetles. *Ecol. Entomol.* 17:289–98
- 235. Tsumuki H, Nagatsuka H, Kawada K, Kanehisa K. 1990. Comparison of nutrient reservation in apterous and alate pea aphids, *Acyrthosiphon pisum* (Harris). 1. Developmental time and sugar content. *Appl. Entomol. Zool.* 25:215–21
- Turchin P, Kareiva P. 1989. Aggregation in *Aphis varians*: an effective strategy for reducing predation risk. *Ecology* 70:1008–16

- Turner JRG. 1988. Sex, leks, and fechts in swift moths, *Hepialus* spp: evidence for the hot shot moth. *Entomologist* 107:90– 95
- 238. Uvarov B. 1966. *Grasshoppers and Locusts*, Vol. 1. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Vet LEM. 1999. From chemical to population ecology: infochemical use in an evolutionary context. *J. Chem. Ecol.* 25: 31–49
- 240. Vickerman D, Michels A, Burrowes PA. 1999. Levels of infection of migrating monarch butterflies, *Danaus plexippus*, by the parasite *Ophryocystis electroscirrha* and evidence of a new mode of spore transmission between adults. *J. Kans. Entomol. Soc.* 72:124–28
- Visser M. 1991. Prey selection by predators depleting a patch: an ESS model. *Neth. J. Zool.* 41:63–79
- Visser ME. 1993. Adaptive self- and conspecific superparasitism in the solitary parasitoid *Leptopilina heterotoma* (Hymenoptera: Eucoilidae). *Behav. Ecol.* 4: 22–28
- 243. Visser ME. van Alphen JJM, Hemerik L. 1992. Adaptive superparasitism and patch time allocation in solitary parasitoids: an ESS model. J. Anim. Ecol. 61:93–102
- 244. Visser ME, van Alphen JJM, Nell HW. 1990. Adaptive superparasitism and patch time allocation in solitary parasitoids: depleting a patch. *Behaviour* 114:20– 36
- 245. Vowoter KA, Meikle WG, Ayerty JA, Borgenmeister C, Markham RH. 1998. Intraspecific competition in larvae of the larger grain borer, *Prostephanus truncatus*, within maize grains. *Insect Sci. Applic.* 18:171–75
- 246. Watt PJ, Chapman R. 1998. Whirligig beetle aggregations: What are the costs and benefits? *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 42: 179–84
- 247. Way MJ, Cammell ME. 1970. Aggregation behavior in relation to food utilization

by aphids. In Animal Populations in Relation to Their Food Resources, ed. A Watson, pp. 229–47. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Sci.

- Weaver DK, McFarlane JE, Alli I. 1990. Repellency of volatile fatty acids present in frass of larval yellow mealworms, *Tenebrio molitor*, to larval conspecifics. *J. Chem. Ecol.* 16:585–93
- Wharton DRA, Lola JE, Wharton ML. 1967. Population density, survival, growth and development of the American cockroach. J. Insect Physiol. 13:699– 716
- Whitham TG. 1978. Habitat selection by *Pemphigus* aphids in response to resource limitation and competition. *Ecol*ogy 59:1164–76
- Wickman P, Wicklund C. 1983. Territorial defense and its seasonal decline in the speckled wood butterfly (*Pararge aegeria*). Anim. Behav. 31:1206–16
- 252. Williams G. 1966. Adaptation and Natural Selection: a Critique of Some Current Evolutionary Thought. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- Williams KS, Simon C. 1995. The ecology, behavior, and evolution of periodical cicadas. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 40:269– 95
- 254. Wileyto EP, Boush GM, Gawin LM. 1984. Function of cockroach aggregation behavior. *Environ. Entomol.* 13:1557–60
- 255. Willis MA, Birch MC. 1982. Male lek formation and female calling in a population of the arctiid moth *Estigmene acrea*. *Science* 218:168–70
- 256. Wold EN, Marquis RJ. 1997. Induced defense in white oak: effects on herbivores and consequences for the plant. *Ecology* 78:1356–69
- 257. Yan GY, Phillips TW. 1996. Influence of tapeworm infection on the production of aggregation pheromone and defensive compounds in *Tribolium castaneum*. J. *Parasitol.* 82:1037–39
- 258. Yoder JA, Grojean NC. 1997. Group

influence on water conservation in the giant Madagascar hissing-cockroach, *Gromphadorhina portentosa*. *Physiol. Entomol.* 22:79–82

- 259. Young AM, Moffet MW. 1979. Studies on the population biology of the tropical butterfly *Mechanitis isthmia* in Costa Rica. *Am. Midl. Nat.* 101:309–19
- 260. Yuval B, Hendrichs J. 2000. Behavior of flies in the genus *Ceratitis*. In *Fruit Flies (Tephritidae): Phylogeny and Evolution of Behavior*, ed. M Aluja, AL Norrbom, pp. 135–56. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press
- Yuval B, Kaspi R, Shloush S, Warburg MS. 1998. Nutritional reserves regulate male participation in Mediterranean fruit fly leks. *Ecol. Entomol.* 23:211–15
- 262. Zahiri N, Rau ME, Lewis DJ. 1997. Starved larvae of *Aedes aegypti* render water unattractive to ovipositing con-

specific females. *Environ. Entomol.* 26: 1087–90

- 263. Zahiri N, Rau ME, Lewis DJ, Khanizadek S. 1997. Intensity and site of *Plagiorchris elegans* infections in *Aedes aegypti* larvae affect the attractiveness of their water to ovipositing conspecific females. *Environ*. *Entomol.* 26:920–23
- 264. Zhang QH, Byers JA, Schlyter F. 1992. Optimal attack density in the larch bark beetle, *Ips cembrae*. J. Appl. Ecol. 29: 672–78
- Zuk M, Kolluru GR. 1998. Exploitation of sexual signals by predators and parasitoids. *Q. Rev. Biol.* 73:415–38
- 266. Zuk M, Simmons LW. 1997. Reproductive strategies of the crickets. In *The Evolution of Mating Systems in Insects and Arachnids*, ed. JC Choe, BJ Crespi, pp. 89–109. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press



Annual Review of Entomology Volume 46, 2001

CONTENTS

BIOGEOGRAPHY AND COMMUNITY STRUCTURE OF NORTH AMERICAN SEED-HARVESTER ANTS, <i>Robert A. Johnson</i>	1
MATING BEHAVIOR AND CHEMICAL COMMUNICATION IN THE ORDER HYMENOPTERA, M. Ayasse, R. J. Paxton, J. Tengö	31
INSECT BIODEMOGRAPHY, James R. Carey	79
PREDICTING ST. LOUIS ENCEPHALITIS VIRUS EPIDEMICS: Lessons from Recent, and Not So Recent, Outbreaks, <i>Jonathan F. Day</i>	111
EVOLUTION OF EXCLUSIVE PATERNAL CARE IN ARTHOPODS, Douglas W. Tallamy MATING STRATEGIES AND SPERMIOGENESIS IN IXODID	139
Spielman	167
GENETIC AND PHYSICAL MAPPING IN MOSQUITOES: Molecular Approaches, David W. Severson, Susan E. Brown, Dennis L. Knudson	183
INSECT ACID-BASE PHYSIOLOGY, Jon F. Harrison EVOLUTION AND BEHAVIORAL ECOLOGY OF	221
HETERONOMOUS APHELINID PARASITOIDS, Martha S. Hunter, James B. Woolley	251
SPECIES TRAITS AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONSTRAINTS: Entomological Research and the History of Ecological Theory, <i>Bernhard</i> <i>Statzner, Alan G. Hildrew, Vincent H. Resh</i>	291
Genetic Transformation Systems in Insects, Peter W. Atkinson, Alexandra C. Pinkerton, David A. O'Brochta	317
TESTS OF REPRODUCTIVE-SKEW MODELS IN SOCIAL INSECTS, H. Kern Reeve, Laurent Keller	347
BIOLOGY AND MANAGEMENT OF GRAPE PHYLLOXERA, Jeffrey Granett, M. Andrew Walker, Laszlo Kocsis, Amir D. Omer	387
MODELS OF DIVISION OF LABOR IN SOCIAL INSECTS, Samuel N. Beshers, Jennifer H. Fewell	413
POPULATION GENOMICS: Genome-Wide Sampling of Insect Populations, William C. Black IV, Charles F. Baer, Michael F. Antolin, Nancy M. DuTeau	441
THE EVOLUTION OF COLOR VISION IN INSECTS, Adriana D. Briscoe, Lars Chittka	471
METHODS FOR MARKING INSECTS: Current Techniques and Future Prospects, James R. Hagler, Charles G. Jackson	511
RESISTANCE OF DROSOPHILA TO TOXINS, Thomas G. Wilson	545

CHEMICAL ECOLOGY AND SOCIAL PARASITISM IN ANTS, A. Lenoir, P. D'Ettorre, C. Errard, A. Hefetz	573
COLONY DISPERSAL AND THE EVOLUTION OF QUEEN MORPHOLOGY IN SOCIAL HYMENOPTERA, Christian Peeters, Fuminori Ito	601
JOINING AND AVOIDANCE BEHAVIOR IN NONSOCIAL INSECTS, Ronald J. Prokopy, Bernard D. Roitberg	631
BIOLOGICAL CONTROL OF LOCUSTS AND GRASSHOPPERS, C. J. Lomer, R. P. Bateman, D. L. Johnson, J. Langewald, M. Thomas	667
NEURAL LIMITATIONS IN PHYTOPHAGOUS INSECTS: Implications for Diet Breadth and Evolution of Host Affiliation, <i>E. A.</i> <i>Bernays</i>	703
FOOD WEBS IN PHYTOTELMATA: ""Bottom-Up"" and ""Top- Down"" Explanations for Community Structure, <i>R. L. Kitching</i>	729